HEALTH SCIENCES

TERHI HUTTUNEN

Saccular Intracranial Aneurysm Disease in Eastern Finnish Population

Phenotype on Admission Long-term Excess Mortality Risk of Cancer



Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertations in Health Sciences



TERHI HUTTUNEN

Saccular Intracranial Aneurysm Disease in Eastern Finnish Population

Phenotype on Admission Long-term Excess Mortality Risk of Cancer

To be presented by permission of the Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Eastern Finland for public examination Kuopio University auditorium, University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, on Friday 15th of June 2012, at 12 noon.

> Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertations in Health Sciences Number 115

> > Department of Neurosurgery Institute of Clinical Medicine School of Medicine Faculty of Health Sciences University of Eastern Finland Kuopio 2012

Kopijyvä Oy, Kuopio, 2012

Series Editors: Professor Veli-Matti Kosma, MD, PhD Institute of Clinical Medicine, pathology Faculty of Health Sciences

Professor Hannele Turunen, PhD Department of Nursing Sciences Faculty of Health Sciences

Professor Olli Gröhn, PhD A.I Virtanen Institute for Molecular Sciences Faculty of Health Sciences

> Distributor: University of Eastern Finland Kuopio Campus Library P.O.Box 1627 FI-70211 Kuopio, FINLAND http://www.uef.fi/kirjasto

ISBN (print): 978–952-61-0805-6 ISBN (pdf): 978–952–61–0806-3 ISSN (print): 1798-5706 ISSN (pdf): 1798-5714 ISSN-L: 1798-5706

Authors address:	Department of Neurosurgery, Institute of Clinical Medicine School of Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences University of Eastern Finland KUOPIO FINLAND
Supervisors:	Professor Juha E Jääskeläinen, MD, PhD Department of Neurosurgery, Institute of Clinical Medicine School of Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences University of Eastern Finland KUOPIO FINLAND
	Mikael von und zu Fraunberg, MD, PhD Department of Neurosurgery, Institute of Clinical Medicine School of Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences University of Eastern Finland KUOPIO FINLAND
Reviewers:	Associate Professor Timo Kumpulainen, MD, PhD Department of Neurosurgery University of Oulu OULU FINLAND
	Associate Professor Jari Siironen, MD, PhD Department of Neurosurgery University of Helsinki HELSINKI FINLAND
Opponent:	Professor Gabriel Rinkel, MD, PhD Department of Neurology University Medical Centre Utrecht UTRECHT NETHERLANDS



Huttunen, Terhi Saccular Intracranial Aneurysm Disease in Eastern Finnish Population – Phenotype on Admission, Long-term Excess Mortality, and Risk of Cancer. University of Eastern Finland , Faculty of Health Sciences, 2012 Publications of the University of Eastern Finland. Dissertations in Health Sciences 115. 2012. 69 p.

ISBN (print): 978–952-61-0805-6 ISBN (pdf): 978–952–61–0806-3 ISSN (print): 1798-5706 ISSN (pdf): 1798-5714 ISSN-L: 1798-5706

ABSTRACT

Saccular intracranial aneurysms (sIAs) form during life at the branching sites of intracranial extracerebral arteries in the cerebrospinal fluid space. Rupture of the sIA wall is the most frequent cause of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH), a devastating form of stroke that affects working aged population. Kuopio Neurosurgery sIA Database (www.uef.fi/ns) contains all cases of aSAH or unruptured sIAs admitted to the Kuopio University Hospital (KUH) since 1980 from the KUH catchment area in Eastern Finland. From 1980 to 2007, the geographic area remained the same, the population decreased from 863,726 to 851,066, the median age increased from 31 to 42 years in males and from 34 to 45 years in females, and the proportion of males remained at 49%. In the present study, we analysed (I) the phenotype, (II) long-term excess mortality, and (III) risk of cancer in 2904 consecutive sIA cases from 1980 to 2007, 618 unruptured (170 familial and 448 sporadic) and 2286 ruptured (aSAH) cases (308 familial and 1978 sporadic).

(I) From 1980 to 2007, familial and sporadic sIA patients aged along the catchment population. In familial sIA patients, the phenotype was modestly different from sporadic. The MCA bifurcation and the ACoA were almost as frequent for the ruptured sIAs, but the MCA bifurcation was clearly dominant among the unruptured ones, suggesting different etiologies for the sIA formation and rupture.

(II) The long term excess mortality of 244 familial and 1,502 sporadic one-year aSAH survivors was analysed as compared to the matched KUH catchment population. There was 12% excess mortality at 15 years. The causes of the long term excess mortality are heterogeneous, and more detailed analyses are required.

(III) The standardised incidence ratios (SIRs) of cancers after first diagnosis of sIA disease were calculated as against the matched KUH population. Lung cancer developed significantly more often in aSAH patients, SIR 2.4 for males and 2.5 for females. Long-term smoking habits of sIA disease carriers should be elucidated, and their abstinence from smoking should be supported and monitored.

National Library of Medicine Classification: C10.228.140.300.510.600

Medical Subject Headings: Intracranial Aneurysm; Subarachnoid Hemorrhage; Familial Disease; Phenotype on Admission; Excess Mortality; Cancer; Lung Neoplasms; Standardised Incidence Ratio.



Huttunen, Terhi Sakkulaarinen aivovaltimoaneurysmatauti – ilmiasu, ylikuolleisuus pitkäaikaisseurannassa ja syöpäriski, Itä-Suomen yliopisto, terveystieteiden tiedekunta 2012 Publications of the University of Eastern Finland. Dissertations in Health Sciences 115. 2012. 69 s.

ISBN (print): 978–952-61-0805-6 ISBN (pdf): 978–952–61–0806-3 ISSN (print): 1798-5706 ISSN (pdf): 1798-5714 ISSN-L: 1798-5706

TIIVISTELMÄ

Sakkulaarinen intrakraniaalinen aneurysma (sIA) muodostuu kallonsisäisten, aivojen pinnalla likvoritilassa olevien valtimoiden haarautumiskohtiin. Aneurysmaattinen subaraknoidaalivuoto (aSAV), joka johtuu lähes aina sIA-seinämän puhkeamisesta, on hengenvaarallinen stroken muoto, joka kohdistuu työikäiseen väestöön. Kuopio Neurosurgery sIA Database (www.uef.fi/ns) sisältää kaikki aSAV- ja sIA-potilaat, jotka ovat tulleet hoitoon Kuopion yliopistollisen sairaalaan (KYS) 1980 lähtien KYSin vastuualueelta Keski- ja Itä-Suomesta. Ajanjaksolla 1980–2007 vastuualue on pysynyt samana, vastuuväestö hieman vähentynyt (863,726-851,066), keski-ikä selvästi lisääntynyt (miehillä 31–42; naisilla 34–45), ja miesten osuus pysynyt samana (49%). Tutkimme (I) sIA-taudin ilmiasua hoitoon tullessa sekä suhteellista (II) ylikuolleisuutta ja (III) syöpäriskiä verrattuna kaltaistettuun vastuuväestöön. Tutkimuskohortin muodosti 2904 sIA-potilasta (1980-2007),joista 618 vuotamattomia (170 familiaalista) ja 2286 vuotaneita (308 familiaalista).

(I) Ajanjaksolla 1980–2007 sekä familiaaliset että sporadiset sIA-potilaat ikääntyiväit vastuuväestön mukaisesti. Familiaaliset potilaat poikkesivat fenotyypiltään vain lievästi sporadisista. Keskimmäisen aivovaltimon haarautumiskohta ja etummainen yhdysvaltimo olivat lähes yhtä tavallisia puhjenneen aneurysman sijaintikohtia. Keskimmäisen aivovaltimon haarautumiskohta oli sen sijaan ylivoimaisesti tavallisin vuotamattomien aneurysmien sijainti. Löydös viittaa siihen, että aneurysman muodostumiseen ja puhkeamiseen vaikuttavat erilaiset riskitekijät.

(II) Suhteellista ylikuolleisuutta analysoitiin 1746 aSAV-potilaalla (244 familiaalista), jotka olivat hengissä 12 kuukautta vuodon jälkeen. Heidän ylikuolleisuutensa 15 vuoden seurannassa oli 12 %. Ylikuolleisuuden syyt ovat todennäköisesti monitekijäisiä, ja niitä on syytä analysoida tarkemmin.

(III) Potilailla laskettiin eri syöpien suhteellinen esiintyvyys (standardised incidence ratio, SIR) sIA-diagnoosin jälkeen verrattuna KYSin vastuuväestöön. Keuhkosyöpää esiintyi merkitsevästi enemmän aSAV-potilailla (SIR miehille 2.4 ja naisille 2.5). sIA-potilaiden tupakointia tulee tutkia tarkemmin ja lopettamista seurata ja tukea.

Luokitus: C10.228.140.300.510.600

Yleinen suomalainen asiasanasto: aivovaltimoaneurysma; lukinkalvon alainen aivoverenvuoto; familiaalinen tauti; pitkäaikaisylikuolleisuus; syövät; keuhkosyöpä; suhteellinen syövän esiintyvyys.

Liikutus, jota tunnemme tajutessamme klassisen musiikin ylevän ja kauniin harmonian, johtuu juuri tämän musiikin matemaattisesta rakenteesta. Ajatelkaamme vain Palestrinaa, Vivaldia, Händeliä ja Bachia. Uskon, että sisäinen käsityksemme kauneudesta noudattaa tietoisesti tai vaistomaisesti matemaattisia lakeja.

Birger Carlstedt



Acknowledgements

The present study was carried out at Neurosurgery, University of Eastern Finland, and NeuroCenter of Kuopio University Hospital, during the years 2008-2012.

This research has been funded by the Finnish Academy of Sciences, Päivikki and Sakari Sohlberg Foundation, Sigrid Juselius Foundation, North Savo Regional Fund of Finnish Cultural Foundation, Aarne Koskelo Foundation, and the EVO funding from the Kuopio University Hospital.

I am honoured to have Professor Gabriel J Rinkel, University of Utrecht, the Netherlands, as my opponent.

I want to thank Docent Timo Kumpulainen, University of Oulu, and Docent Jari Siironen, University of Helsinki, for reviewing my thesis.

I want to thank the following persons for their contribution to my thesis work

Neurosurgery, University of Eastern Finland, and NeuroCenter, Kuopio University Hospital Professor and Chairman Juha E Jääskeläinen and Consultant Neurosurgeon Mikael von und zu Fraunberg for supervising my thesis.

Docent Timo Koivisto, Docent Antti Ronkainen, and Docent Jaakko Rinne for profound insight and valuable discussions on saccular intracranial aneurysm disease. Research Nurse Katariina Helin for maintaining the Kuopio Intracranial Aneurysm Database.

Administrative Secretary Seija Kasanen for sorting out practical things.

Visiting Professor Gerald Tromp, Wayne State University School of Medicine, Detroit, Michigan, for assisting in the data analysis.

My fellow PhD Students of the Kuopio Intracranial Aneuysm Research Group

BM Annamaija Riihinen, MD Taavi Saavalainen, and MD Antti Lindgren for making my research work even more eloquent and awesome (Springbreak, wuhuu!!!!).

Finnish Cancer Registry

Researcher Karri Seppä for the analysis of excess mortality of the sIA patients. Professor Eero Pukkala for the analysis of relative cancer risk in the sIA patients. Professor Risto Sankila and Professor Timo Hakulinen for valuable discussions.

Neurosurgery, Helsinki University Hospital

Consultant Neurosurgeon Juhana Frösen for initiating the phenotype study. Consultant Neurosurgeon Martin Lehecka for assisting in the phenotype study. Professor Juha Hernesniemi for creating the Kuopio Intracranial Aneurysm Database. Head of KUH Medical Library Tuulevi Ovaska for weekly reference service. Information Specialist Heikki Laitinen for teaching reference management. PhLic Vesa Kiviniemi, University of Eastern Finland, for statistical consultation.

MSc Lisa Stango for skilful editing of the language of this thesis and for letting me follow you all the way from Garda Lake to Cambridge.

MD Tuomas Nuutinen for the breathtaking picture of Neulamäki mirroring branching morphogenesis, and MSc Jenni Hakosalo for discovering the wooden pike in it.

My friends & family members for supporting me. My grandma Irja for motivating me. My nieces Emma and Aada for inspiring me. My sister Heidi for loving me. My husband Antti for standing by me. My parents for making me.

Johann Sebastian Bach for making me think.

Kuopio, June 2012

Terhi Huuskonen, née Huttunen

XIII

The list of original publications

This dissertation is based on the following original publications:

- I Huttunen T, von und zu Fraunberg M, Frösen J, Lehecka M, Tromp G, Helin K, Koivisto T, Rinne J, Ronkainen A, Hernesniemi J, Jääskeläinen JE. Saccular intracranial aneurysm disease: distribution of site, size, and age suggests different etiologies for aneurysm formation and rupture in 316 familial and 1454 sporadic eastern Finnish patients. *Neurosurgery 66: 631-638, 2010.*
- II Huttunen T, von und zu Fraunberg M, Koivisto T, Ronkainen A, Rinne J, Sankila R, Seppä K, Jääskeläinen JE. Long-term excess mortality of 244 familial and 1502 sporadic one-year survivors of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage compared with a matched Eastern Finnish catchment population. *Neurosurgery 68: 20-27, 2011.*
- III Huttunen T, Riihinen A, Pukkala E, von und zu Fraunberg M, Koivisto T, Ronkainen A, Rinne J, Sankila R, Jääskeläinen JE. Increased relative risk of lung cancer in 2 904 patients with saccular intracranial aneurysm disease in Eastern Finland. *Neuroepidemiology 38: 93-99, 2012.*

The publications were adapted with the permission of copyright owners.

Contents

1 INTRODUCTION	1
2 BACKGROUND OF THE STUDY	3
2.1 Saccular intracranial aneurysm (sIA) and subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSA	AH) 3
2.1.1 Segmental anatomy of intracranial extracerebral arteries	3
2.1.2 Definition of saccular intracranial extracerebral artery aneurysm	4
2.1.3 Incidence of sIA disease	4
2.1.4 Medial gap	4
2.1.5 Biology of sIA wall	4
2.1.6 Hemodynamics of sIA wall	5
2.1.7 Familial sIA disease	6
2.1.8 Genomics of sIA disease	6
2.2 Risk factors of sIA disease	7
2.3 Diagnosis, treatment and prevention of aSAH	9
2.3.1 Clinical appearance and diagnostics of aSAH	9
2.3.2 Neurointensive care of aSAH	9
2.3.3 Diagnosis and treatment of unruptured sIAs	10
2.3.4 Prevention of aSAH	10
2.4 Outcome after aSAH	11
2.4.1 Short-term outcome of aSAH	11
2.4.2 Long-term excess mortality aSAH	11
2.4.3 Long-term neurological outcome after aSAH	12
2.5 Eastern Finnish sIA disease	12
2.5.1 Catchment population of Kuopio University Hospital (KUH)	12
2.5.2 Kuopio Neurosurgery sIA Database (www.uef.fi/ns)	12
2.5.3 Genomic studies of sIA disease in KUH catchment population	13
2.5.4 Vascular diseases in KUH population	13
2.5.5 Familial disease	14
2.5.6 Concomitant diseases	14
2.5.7 Previous PhD theses on Eastern Finnish sIA disease	14
3 AIMS OF THE STUDY	15
3.1 Phenotype of sIA disease on admission	15
3.2 Long-term outcome after aSAH	15
3.3 Impact of risk factors on long-term outcome after aSAH	15

4 SACCULAR INTRACRANIAL ANEURYSM DISEASE – DISTRIBUTIO	N OF
SITE, SIZE AND AGE SUGGEST DIFFERENT ETIOLOGIES FOR ANEU	RYSM
FORMATION AND RUPTURE IN 316 FAMILIAL AND 1454 SPORADIC	
EASTERN FINNISH PATIENTS	17
4.1 Introduction	18
4.2 Materials and methods	19
4.2.1 Catchment population of Kuopio University Hospital	19
4.2.2 Cases of subarachnoid hemorrhage or unruptured intracranial ane	urysm in
the KUH area	19
4.2.3 Kuopio IA Database	19
4.2.4 Study population	
4.2.5 Variables	
4.2.6 Ethical aspects	20
4.2.7 Statistical analysis	
4.3 Results	
4.3.1 Familial and sporadic sIA patients from 1980 to 2007 in Eastern Fir	ıland 20
4.3.2 Familial and sporadic sIA patients at first aSAH - trends from 1980	to 2007
4.3.3 Familial and sporadic sIA patients at first aSAH (1993-2007)	23
4.3.4 Unruptured sIAs in familial and sporadic sIA patients at first aSAI	H (1993-
2007)	25
4.3.5 Unruptured sIAs in familial and sporadic sIA patients with no aSA	Н (1993-
2007)	
4.4 Discussion	
4.4.1 Eastern Finnish familial and sporadic sIA cohort	
4.4.2 Multiple sIAs	
4.4.3 Age and gender at first diagnosis	27
4.4.4 Site distribution of unruptured and ruptured sIAs	
4.4.5 Diameter of sIAs	
4.5 Conclusions	
F LONG TEDM EVCESS MODTALITY OF 244 FAMILIAL AND 1 502 SP	
5 LONG-TERM EACESS MORTALITT OF 244 FAMILIAL AND 1,502 ST	JKADIC
UNC- I EAR SURVIVORS OF ANEURISMAL SUBARACHINOID	
CATCHMENT DODULATION	20
E 1 Intro duction	
5.1 Introduction.	
5.2 Waterials and methods	
5.2.1 Catchment population of Kuopio University Hospital	
5.2.2 Admission of SAH patients	
5.2.5 Kuopio Intracranial Aneurysm Database	
5.2.4 Study population	
5.2.5 Follow up data	31

5.2.6 Variables in survival analysis	31
5.2.7 Statistical analysis	
5.2.8 Ethical aspects	
5.3 Results	
5.3.1 One-year mortality of 2,286 sIA patients admitted for aSAH	
5.3.2 Long-term excess mortality of 1,746 sIA patients alive one year af	ter aSAH
5.3.3 Causes of death one year after aSAH	
5.3.4 Recurrent or new aSAH during follow up	
5.3.5 Independent risk factors for long-term excess mortality	
5.4 Discussion	40
5.5 Conclusions	
6 INCREASED RELATIVE RISK OF LUNG CANCER IN 2 904 PATIENT	'S WITH
SECULAR INTRACRANIAL ANEURYSM DISEASE IN EASTERN FINI	LAND 43
6.1 Introduction	
6.2 Materials and methods	
6.2.1 Catchment population of Kuopio University Hospital (KUH)	
6.2.2 Kuopio Intracranial Aneurysm Database	45
6.2.3 Study population	45
6.2.4 Follow up for cancer incidence	45
6.2.5 Statistical analysis	45
6.2.6 Ethical aspects	
6.3 Results	
6.3.1 Observed and expected cases of cancer	
6.3.2 Familial sIA disease and cancer	
6.3.3 Lung cancer	
6.3.4 Other smoking related cancers	
6.3.5 Other cancers	
6.4 Discussion	50
6.5 Conclusions	
7 SUMMARY AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	53
7 SOMINIART AND TOTORE TERSTECTIVES	
8 CONCLUSIONS	57
8.1 Phenotype of sIA disease on admission	
8.2 Long-term outcome after aSAH	57
8.3 Impact of risk factors on long-term outcome after aSAH	57
9 REFERENCES	59

XVIII

Abbreviations

A1	Proximal segment of anterior cerebral artery
A2-5	A2-5 segment of anterior cerebral artery
ACA	Anterior cerebral artery
ADPKD	Autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease
aSAH	Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage
ACoA	Anterior communicating artery
BA	Basilar artery
BAbif	Basilar bifurcation
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
CI	Confidence interval
СТ	Computed tomography
CTA	Computed tomographic angiography
DSA	Digital substraction angiography
GCS	Glasgow Coma Scale
GOS	Glasgow Outcome Score
H&H	Hunt & Hess grade
ICA	Internal carotid artery
ICH	Intracerebral hematoma
ICP	Intracranial pressure
ISAT	International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial
ISUIA	International Study of Unruptured Intracranial Aneurysms
IVH	Intraventricular hemorrhage
KUH	Kuopio University Hospital
MCA	Middle cerebral artery
MBif	Middle cerebral artery bifurcation
MRA	Magnetic resonance angiography
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
OR	Odds ratio
PCA	Posterior cerebral artery
PCoA	Posterior communicating artery
PICA	Posterior inferior cerebellar artery
RER	Relative excess risk of death
RSR	Relative survival ratio
sIA	Saccular intracranial aneurysm
SIR	Standardised incidence ratio
SMR	Standardised mortality ratio
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
VA	Vertebral artery
VBA	Vertebrobasilar artery



1 Introduction

Saccular intracranial aneurysms (sIAs) develop during life in some 2% of population (Ronkainen et al., 1998). Rupture of the sIA wall causes almost all cases of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) (van Gijn et al., 2007). Acute aSAH is a complex and critical systemic condition. Survivors of the primary bleed require multidisciplinary neurointensive care to prevent further damage, e.g., from rebleeding, hydrocephalus, increased intracranial pressure (ICP), delayed ischemic brain injury, seizures, electrolyte disturbances, cardiac and pulmonary dysfunction, and complications of the management (Bederson et al., 2009; Levine, 2009). There is a significant excess mortality for at least one year after acute aSAH (Guresir et al., 2008; Hernesniemi et al., 1993; Langham et al., 2009; Lehecka et al., 2008; Molyneux et al., 2005; O'Kelly et al., 2009; Rosengart et al., 2007; van der Bilt et al., 2009; Wartenberg et al., 2006). Sequelae of aSAH may cause long-term mortality, e.g., by predisposing to epilepsy, depression, dementia, shunt complications, hypothalamic and hypophyseal disorders, or cerebrovascular events.

The sIA disease is a complex trait, (Hardy and Singleton, 2009; Hindorff et al., 2009) affected by acquired risk factors and variants of the genome which may sensitize also to cardiovascular events in later life (Ronkainen et al., 2001). Its phenotypic tissue, branching site of major cerebral artery under hemodynamic stress (Alnaes et al., 2007), is poorly characterized in embryonic and adult cellular and molecular biology. Known risk factors include age, female sex, smoking, hypertension, and excess drinking (Feigin et al., 2005), and at least 10% of aSAH patients have a family history (Ronkainen et al., 1997; Ruigrok et al., 2005). In the Kuopio sIA Database, the criteria for an sIA family is at least two affected first-degree relatives. Mechanisms by which risk factors affect the formation of sIA pouch (primary phenotype) and the rupture of sIA wall (secondary phenotype) have to be elucidated for novel methods to identify sIA carriers and to occlude sIA pouches (Shi et al., 2009).

A variant on 9p21 associated with coronary artery disease, abdominal aortic aneurysm and sIA in 1,131 sIA patients from Finland, the Netherlands and Iceland (Helgadottir et al., 2008). In a genome-wide SNP association study, new loci on 2q33 and 8q11 and the previous one on 9p21 were identified in 2,045 sIA patients from Finland, the Netherlands and Japan (Bilguvar et al., 2008). For further genomic, and epigenomic, studies of the Finnish sIA disease, more data on the phenotype, acquired risk factors, and concomitant arterial diseases are required. In familial sIA patients from Southern Finland and Eastern Finland, genome-wide linkage analysis showed linkage to 19q13 (van der Voet et al., 2004) and Xp22 (Olson et al., 2002), both replicated in Japan (Yamada et al., 2004) as well as to kallikrein gene cluster (Weinsheimer et al., 2007). However, it is uncertain how relevant the linkage data is.

The Eastern Finnish gene pool has been particularly affected by a small number of founders, isolation, and major bottlenecks (Peltonen et al., 1999).

Neurosurgery of Kuopio University Hospital (KUH) has solely provided full-time acute and elective neurosurgical services for the KUH catchment area in Eastern Finland (Figure 1.1). KUH Neurosurgery maintains a database on all cases of aSAH or unruptured IAs admitted to the KUH since 1977, retrospectively from 1977 to 1989, and prospectively from 1990.



In the present study, we used an overall cohort of 2904 consecutive sIA cases from 1980 to 2007, 618 unruptured (170 familial and 448 sporadic) and 2286 ruptured (aSAH) cases (308 familial and 1978 sporadic). We analysed the following aspects of Eastern Finnish sIA disease:

(I) phenotype of sporadic and familial sIA patients and their unruptured and ruptured sIAs on admission,

(II) long-term excess mortality of aSAH patients as compared to matched KUH catchment population, and

(III) long-term relative risk of cancer as compared to matched KUH catchment population.

Figure 1.1 Map of the catchment area of Kuopio University Hospital (KUH), containing 4 central hospitals in Joensuu, Jyväskylä, Mikkeli, and Savonlinna. The areas of the 4 other university hospitals in Helsinki, Oulu, Tampere, and Turku are also delineated.

This study is a part of the long-term research efforts of the Kuopio sIA Database to characterize the Eastern Finnish sIA disease in terms of phenotypical distribution at first diagnosis, concomitant diseases, familial influence, and long-term outcome from the sIA disease and from concomitant diseases. This will serve two purposes. First, our data will support the design of preventive and follow-up actions to be implemented for sporadic and famial unruptured and ruptured sIA patients. Second, our data will support the long-term effort of disclosing familial and/or genomic background and molecular biology of the sIA formation and rupture.

2 Background of the study

2.1 SACCULAR INTRACRANIAL ANEURYSM (SIA) AND SUBARACHNOID HEMORRHAGE (ASAH)

2.1.1 Segmental anatomy of intracranial extracerebral arteries

The Circle of Willis is an anastomotic arterial polygon between the two internal carotid arteries (ICAs) and the vertebrobasilar system (Figure 2.1). The internal carotid artery (ICA) is divided into the C1 to C7 segments. The anterior cerebral artery (ACA) starts from the ICA bifurcation, and it is divided into the A1 to A5 segments. The proximal A1 segment is between the ICA bifurcation and the anterior communicating artery (ACoA). Traditionally, the distal part A2 to A5 is called the pericallosal artery. The middle cerebral artery (MCA) starts from the ICA bifurcation, and it is divided into the proximal M1 segment, the MCA bifurcation (Mbif), and the distal M2 to M4 segments. The posterior cerebral artery (PCA) starts from the distal bifurcation of the basilar artery (BA), which starts from the end fusion of the two vertrebral arteries (VAs). The two posterior communicating arteries (PCoA) between the ICAs and the PCAs complete the Circle of Willis.



Figure 2.1 Circle of Willis

2.1.2 Definition of saccular intracranial extracerebral artery aneurysm

Saccular intracranial aneurysms (sIAs) are balloon-like dilatations that form during life at the branching sites of the intracranial extracerebral arteries in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) space in the proximity of the Circle of Willis (Figure 2.2). Rupture of the sIA wall is by far the most frequent cause of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH), a devastating and third frequent form of stroke that affects working aged population (van Gijn et al., 2007; Bederson et al., 2009). At present, the diagnosis of unruptured and ruptured sIAs requires angiography (CTA, MRA, DSA).

Fusiform aneurysms, spindle shaped dilatations of the arterial trunk, are dominant, e.g., in the aorta. Fusiform aneurysms are uncommon in the intracranial extracerebral arteries, forming only 4% of all diagnosed aneurysms in the Kuopio sIA Database (Huttunen et al., 2010).

2.1.3 Incidence of sIA disease

Some 2% of population develops sIAs (Ronkainen et al., 1998; Feigin et al., 2005), i.e., some 108 000 of 5,4 million Finnish citizens. However, most sIA carriers do not have rupture during their life time as the general annual incidence of aSAH was 4-7 per 100 000 in the latest meta-analysis (Feigin et al., 2009). For unknown reasons, aSAH is thrice as frequent in Finland and Japan than elsewhere (de Rooij et al., 2007). In 2006 in Finland, there were 929 aneurysmal aSAH cases (I60.0-7) with 319 deaths (34%) within 12 months (Arto Pietilä and Veikko Salomaa www.ktl.fi/cvdr).

2.1.4 Medial gap

The phenotypic tissue of the sIA disease is very restricted, the medial gap (Canham and Finlay, 2004) (Figure 2.2) under hemodynamic stress at the branching sites of intracranial extracerebral arteries (Isaksen et al., 2008). The medial gap is a seal that forms between the medial bases of the two daughter branches that start from the mother branch during the embryonal morphogenesis. This is one manifestation of the embryonal branching morphogenesis seen in many other organs such as the bronchial tree or the bile ducts (Horowitz and Simons, 2008). The embryonal formation of the intracranial extracerebral artery system and the Circle of Willis has been amazingly poorly described in the medical literature on embryology.

2.1.5 Biology of sIA wall

Aneurysm wall lacks internal elastic lamina and normal intima-media-adventitia layers (Scanarini et al., 1978). The wall of unruptured sIAs is characterized by myointimal hyperplasia and organizing thrombus, whereas that of ruptured sIAs is characterized by a decellularized, degenerated matrix and a poorly organised luminal thrombus (Frosen et al., 2012). Vascular remodelling, increased inflammation, complement activation and apoptosis associate with the rupture of sIA wall (Frosen et al., 2012; Frosen et al., 2004; Tulamo et al., 2006). Cell-mediated and humoral inflammatory reaction is seen in both, but inflammation is clearly associated with degenerated and ruptured walls. The key event in the processes that lead to cell

death and subsequent matrix degeneration in the sIA wall may be the loss of functioning endothelium and subsequent thrombus formation on the luminal surface of the sIA wall. The dysfunction of the endothelium can be caused by the aberrant flow conditions in the sIA lumen caused by sIA geometry. This results in accumulation of cytotoxic and pro-inflammatory substances into the sIA wall, as well as thrombus formation. This may start the processes that eventually can lead to the decellularized and degenerated sIA wall that is prone to rupture (Frosen et al., 2012).

A recent study from our group compared the fresh samples of 11 ruptured and 8 unruptured sIAs, using whole genome microarray profiling (Kurki et al., 2011) – 799 genes were significantly upregulated and 421 downregulated in the ruptured sIA walls. Response to turbulent blood flow, chemotaxis, leukocyte migration, oxidative stress, vascular remodelling, and extracellular matrix degradation were active in the ruptured sIA walls. Pathway analysis and in silico transcription factor analysis suggested that TLR signalling and regulation by NF- κ B, HIF1A and ETS transcription factors have key roles in the ruptured sIA walls.

2.1.6 Hemodynamics of sIA wall

Local hemodynamics and geometry of the bifurcation area are often implicated in the formation of saccular aneurysms and their rupture (Ingebrigtsen et al. 2004; Meng et al., 2007) (Figure 2.2). The carina of the bifurcation is thought to be exposed to the maximum impact of hemodynamic shear stress (van der Kolk et al., 2010). Bifurcations with sharp angles, significantly deviating the flow, may be in an increased risk for sIA formation (Bor et al., 2008). The hemodynamics and shear forces in the area of the Circle of Willis have been extensively mathematically modelled (Alnaes et al., 2007). A model based on patient specific CTA data and flexible sIA wall showed that high wall tension and wall displacement clustered at the aneurysm dome, the usual site of rupture (Isaksen et al., 2008). The geometry of sIA wall is not usually stable, many sIAs grow or change in shape during follow-up (Juvela et al., 2001). The shape and size of the sIA can change either by expansion of the wall due to proliferation of mural cells, or by distension due to hemodynamic stress or by the combination of these two mechanisms (Frosen et al., 2012).



Figure 2.2 Saccular intracranial aneurysm (sIA) and subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH). Upper row from left to right. Unruptured sIA in the bifurcation of the internal carotid artery. The Circle of Willis connecting the intracranial extracerebral arteries with sIAs in the main branching sites. The medial gap area in the bifurcation.

Lower row from left to right. Typical acute aSAH in computed tomography (CT), blood in the CSF spaces appearing white. Acute aSAH with intraventricular hemorrhage and acute hydrocephalus. Acute aSAH with large intracerebral hemorrhage. Hemodynamic model of basilar artery bifurcation area.

2.1.7 Familial sIA disease

At least 10% of the aSAH patients have a familial background (Ruigrok et al., 2005; Ronkainen et al., 1997). The estimates of relative risks of familial aSAH varies from 4.1 to 6.6 (Ruigrok et al., 2001). A Danish population based cohort study of 9,367 patients and their 14,781 first degree relatives concluded that first degree relatives of patients with aSAH have a threefold to fivefold increased risk of aSAH as compared with the general population (Gaist et al., 2000). Another study looked at the cumulative incidence in 163 aSAH patients with 1290 first degree relatives and 3,588 second degree relatives. Ten first degree relatives and four second degree relatives had aSAH resulting in a hazard ratio of 6.6 (CI 2.0-21) (Bromberg, 1995). Familial clustering suggests that genomic variants – as well as epigenomic variation – are involved in the sIA disease. For previous phenotypic, outcome and genomic studies see the section Eastern Finnish sIA disease.

2.1.8 Genomics of sIA disease

The Finnish population is particularly prone to aSAH (de Rooij et al., 2007). The genetic homogeneity of Finns (Peltonen et al., 1999) may support the identification of genomic variants behind the complex sIA disease, affected by inherited as well as acquired risk factors. A variant on 9p21 associated with coronary artery disease, abdominal aortic aneurysm and sIA in 1131 sIA patients from Finland, the

Netherlands and Iceland (Helgadottir et al., 2008). LD block contains CDKN2A and CDKN2B with roles, e.g., in cancer and senescence (Helgadottir et al., 2008). In the first genome-wide SNP association study, new loci on 2q33 and 8q11 and the previous one on 9p21 were identified in 2045 sIA patients from Finland, the Netherlands and Japan (Bilguvar et al., 2008). In the follow up genomewide association study, loci 8q11.23-q12.1 and 9p21.3 were confirmed, and three new loci – 10q24.32 and CNNM2 – 13q13.1 and STARD13 – 18q11.2 and RBBP8 were identified (Yasuno et al., 2010). The functional significance of these loci is not known. One of the current trends is to find out large sIA families for exomic or genomic sequencing.

Certain inherited traits are associated with increased risk of the sIA disease, and may function as models in the molecular biology studies of the sIA disease. Autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease (ADPKD) is caused by mutations in the PKD1 or PKD2 genes (Mangos et al., 2010). About 1% of aSAH patients carry ADPKD, and 10% ADPKD patients develop sIAs (Ronkainen et al., 1997). Connective tissue syndromes Marfan (mutation in FBN1), Ehlers-Danlos type IV (COL3AI), and Loyes-Dietz (TGFBR1 and TGFBR2) predispose to vascular anomalies, including aortic and other arterial aneurysms and dissection, generalized arterial tortuosity, and fusiform aneurysm, but not saccular intracranial aneurysms (Loeys et al., 2005; Rodrigues et al., 2009; Oderich et al., 2005; Ruigrok et al., 2011).

2.2 RISK FACTORS OF SIA DISEASE

Age

Incidence of the sIA disease increases with age, being very low in the two first decades of life (Juvela, 2003; Inagawa, 2005; Rinkel et al., 1998). The median age for aSAH is in the fifth and sixth decades of life (Nieuwkamp et al., 2009).

Female gender

In general, females have sligthly dominated in the cohorts of unruptured and ruptured sIA disease (Rinkel et al., 1998). Reasons for the female dominance are not understood. It has been suggested that deacreased oestrogen production after the menopause would play a factor. In a meta-analysis (Feigin et al., 2005), hormone replacement therapy was associated with nonsignificantly reduced risk of SAH in one longitudinal study (Stampfer et al., 1991) and with 40% significantly reduced risk of SAH in two population-based case-control studies (Mhurchu et al., 2001) (Longstreth et al., 1994).

Hypertension

In a meta-analysis, hypertension increased the risk of SAH by $\approx 2.5 \times$ in longitudinal and case-control studies and was 30% more hazardous in women (Feigin et al., 2005).

Hypertension together with smoking are the most important modifiable risk factors of the sIA disease at population level.

A recent study found significant association of sIA disease with a risk allele at immediate proximity to endothelin receptor type A (ENDRA; 4q31.23) (Yasuno et al., 2011). ENDRA and ENDRB play key roles in the maintenance of the vasculature by controlling the balance between vasoconstriction and vasodilatation in response to hemodynamic stress. The endothelin system has been implicated in the pathogenesis of primary hypertension (Humbert et al., 2004). Hypertension and smoking, both well-established risk factors of IA pathogenesis, have been shown to alter the expression of endothelins (Xu et al., 2010). Furthermore, a variant in the suggestive IA locus at 5q23.2 (PRDM6) associated with increased systolic blood pressure in general European population (Yasuno et al., 2011; Gaál et al., 2012).

Smoking

In a Finnish single center series of 278 consecutive aneurysmal SAH patients and 314 hospitalized controls, published in 1993, the proportion of non-smokers were 12% vs. 41% in males and 47% vs. 61% in females (Juvela et al., 1993). Over 90% of male lung cancer patients are smokers (Tyczynski et al., 2003). Furthermore, smoking is a risk factor for cancers of the lung, upper aero-digestive tract (oral cavity, nasal cavity and sinuses, pharynx, larynx, oesophagus), pancreas, stomach, liver, lower urinary tract (renal pelvis and bladder), kidney and uterine cervix (Dreyer et al., 1997). In a meta-analysis, ever smoking was associated with a 2.2- to 3.1-fold increase when compared with never smoking, and current smoking had a 2.2- to 3.1-fold increased risk when compared with never and former smoking combined (Feigin et al., 2005).

Smoking alters the function of vascular endothelium, initiates the adhesion cascade and stimulates the vascular inflammatory events leading to atherosclerosis and hypertension (Balakumar and Kaur, 2009). However, the exact mechanisms by which smoking would affect the sIA wall are not known, but indirect evidence suggests inflammation and degradation of connective tissue.

Alcohol

Heavy (>150g/week) alcohol consumption (relative risk 1.5 to 2.1) is also a modifiable risk factor, accounting for 11% to 21% of the population-attributable risk for aSAH (Ruigrok et al., 2001). Data from several studies has demonstrated an increased risk od aSAH in relation to alcohol intoxication and binge drinking (Inagawa, 2001; Juvela et al., 1993; Kissela et al., 2002; Leppala et al., 1999; Longstreth et al., 1992; Feigin et al., 2005). Nonetheless, the mechanisms how alcohol predisposes to aSAH are not fully understood.

Weekly and seasonal variation in aSAH

Daily variation in hemorrhagic stroke has been analysed in several studies, with the peaks of SAH on the weekend (Juvela et al., 1993), on Sundays (Feigin et al., 2002), or on Mondays (Lin et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2002; Turin et al., 2007; Kelly-Hayes et al., 1995). Our group have showed that Sundays and Mondays are the most frequent and Saturdays the least frequent days of aSAH in Eastern Finnish population (Lindgren et al., 2011).

2.3 DIAGNOSIS, TREATMENT AND PREVENTION OF ASAH

2.3.1 Clinical appearance and diagnostics of aSAH

Symptoms and signs of aSAH include meningeal irritation (sudden and severe headache, vomiting, nuchal rigidity, photophobia), seizures and local neurological deficits (limb paresis, dysphasia, oculomotor palsy), intraocular hemorrhages, loss of consciousness, and sudden death.

Survivors of aSAH risk instant re-bleeding which indicates acute CT verification of SAH followed by CT and/or catheter angiography to verify or exclude a ruptured aneurysm or other neurovascular lesion (Figure 2.2). Negative CT should be followed by diagnostic lumbar puncture, including spectroscopy of CSF to diagnose earlier SAH. In about 15% of SAH cases, no other neurovascular lesion, or other etiology is detected, even with high quality four vessel DSA (Pyysalo et al., 2011).

The most common system for grading the clinical condition after aSAH is the Hunt and Hess (H&H) scale, (0) No SAH, (I) Asymptomatic or mild headache, mild nuchal rigidity, (II) moderate to severe headache, nuchal rigidity, no neurological deficit, except cranial nerve palsy, (IV) stupor or mild to moderate hemiparesis; possible early decerebrate rigidity, and (V) deep coma, decebral posturing, moribund. In addition, the presence of intracerebral hematoma, intraventricular hematoma and hydrocephalus are evaluated on admission.

2.3.2 Neurointensive care of aSAH

Acute aSAH is a complex systemic condition that requires multidisciplinary neuroICU care. The management aims to prevent further damage from rebleeding, hydrocephalus, increased ICP, acute ischemic brain injury, seizures, electrolyte disturbances, cardiac and pulmonary dysfunction, and subacute ischemic brain injury (Levine, 2009; Bederson et al., 2009; Diringer et al., 2011).

The ruptured sIA should be occluded in the acute phase to prevent re-bleeding (Diringer et al., 2011). Immediate repair of the ruptured sIA by either coil embolisation or microsurgical clip ligation reduces the risk of re-bleeding, with microsurgical exclusion being slightly more efficacious (Molyneux et al., 2005).

A prospective study of treatment of acute ruptured sIA showed that the outcome was not significantly different between these treatment groups at three (Vanninen et al., 1999) or 12 months (Koivisto et al., 2000).

From Kuopio Database, Karamanakos et al. concluded that coil embolisation has not improved the overall outcome of aSAH in the elderly in Eastern Finland (Karamanakos et al., 2010).

2.3.3 Diagnosis and treatment of unruptured sIAs

Unruptured IA(s) are mainly detected as occult findings in neuroimaging for other symptoms, and in a few cases by screening sIA family members. The detection rate has increased due to the availability of non-invasive brain imaging methods, particularly MRI and MR angiography. Furthermore, in patients who have been treated for a ruptured sIA, the annual rate of new sIA formation is 1% per year to 2% per year (Bederson et al., 2009; Rinne and Hernesniemi, 1993).

The decision to prophylatically occlude unruptured sIAs should be based on the estimation of life-long risk of rupture, on the other hand, and the potential risks of occlusive therapy, either microsurgical clipping or endovascular techniques.

According to the International Study of Unruptured Intracranial Aneurysms (ISUIA), 5-year cumulative rupture rates for patients who did not have a history of subarachnoid haemorrhage with aneurysms located in internal carotid artery, anterior communicating or anterior cerebral artery, or middle cerebral artery were 0%, 2.6%, 14.5%, and 40% for aneurysms less than 7 mm, 7-12 mm, 13-24 mm, and 25 mm or greater, respectively, compared with rates of 2.5%, 14.5%, 18.4%, and 50%, respectively, for the same size categories involving posterior circulation and posterior communicating artery aneurysms (Wiebers et al., 2003).

2.3.4 Prevention of aSAH

MR angiography screenings of unselected populations for incidental sIAs may not be feasible due to high cost and problems of achieving full coverage.

The most effective way to prevent sIA formation and/or rupture is to reduce modifiable risk factors, of which smoking and hypertension are the two most important ones (Feigin et al., 2005). In a recent multi-centre, population-based, case-control study, information on smoking status, history of hypertension, physical activity, dietary intake, alcohol consumption, body mass index, and family history of aSAH, were obtained from 432 aSAH cases and 473 matched community-based aSAH-free controls. A recent population-based case-control study confirmed that smoking cessation (OR 3.69) and blood pressure control (1.79) are the most important strategies to prevent aSAH (Shiue et al., 2012). In a large cohort study (475 734 Korean men) smoking cessation was associated with reduced risk of aSAH (hazard ratio of 0.58) (Song and Cho, 2008).

2.4 OUTCOME AFTER ASAH

2.4.1 Short-term outcome of aSAH

In our recent review of multivariate analyses of large (> 500 patients) aneurysmal SAH cohorts (Karamanakos et al., 2011), the subsequent outcome and mortality have mainly been reported at 2 months, 3 months, or 6 months after aneurysmal aSAH (Coghlan et al., 2009; Frontera et al., 2008; Guresir et al., 2008; Langham et al., 2009; Molyneux et al., 2005; O'Kelly et al., 2010; Rosengart et al., 2007; Wartenberg et al. 2006; Zacharia et al., 2009).

Unfavourable outcome at three months was associated with increasing age, WFNS, posterior circulation sIA, large sIA, IVH, ICH, elevated systolic blood pressure on admission, history of hypertension, prior aSAH, myocardial infarctation and liver disease, fever, anemia, hyperglycemia, poor admission H&H, amount of blood on CT. Variables present during hospitalization associated with poor outcome were temperature >38 degrees C 8 days after aSAH, use of anticonvulsants, symptomatic vasospasm, and cerebral infarction.

2.4.2 Long-term excess mortality aSAH

There are few published population based studies analysing long-term excess mortality after aSAH (Ronkainen et al., 2001; Lehecka et al., 2007; Molyneux et al., 2009; Nieuwkamp et al., 2011; Olafsson et al., 1997). In the International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT) cohort, 1,413 one year survivors of aSAH from U.K. were followed up for a mean of 9 years (Molyneux et al., 2009). Their long-term death rates were increased as compared to the general population of U.K. (Molyneux et al., 2009). A recent study of 17,705 aSAH patients implicated a mortality rate of a 35.4% at 15 years, with overall standardised mortality ratio of 1.57 in a mean follow up time of 6.8 years (Nieuwkamp et al., 2011). Several studies have addressed cardiovascular complications after acute aSAH and in the long run, including myocardiac injury (Diringer et al., 2011; Ronkainen et al., 2001). Cardiovascular causes may explain at least partially the long-term excess mortality after aSAH, in a disease strongly associated with hypertension and smoking.

In the previous study from the Kuopio Database, Ronkainen et al. observed that 900 aSAH patients with good outcome (GOS 5) at 12 months had a mortality rate twice that of the Eastern Finnish general population in a median follow up time of 7.5 years (Ronkainen et al., 2001). Systemic cardiovascular disease appeared to be the most important cause of death, responsible for 60% of cases (Ronkainen et al., 2001). They concluded that aSAH is one aspect of chronic general vascular disease, and more attention should be paid to the reduction of risk factors, and the long-term follow up of aSAH survivors.

A recent study made from the Kuopio sIA Database (1980-2007) showed 29% mortality in 1657 patients at 12-months. Of 13 variables available on admission,

independent risk factors were: age; Hunt&Hess grades IV-V; acute hydrocephalus; intraventricular hemorrhage (IVH); and intracerebral hemorrhage (ICH). The sequelae of aneurysmal SAH were the leading cause of death for about 12 months, after which other causes became dominant. H&H grades IV (flexion reaction) and especially V (extension reaction) were strong indicators of acute mortality, whereas age was not. Patients in good condition on admission had a very low mortality rate at 12 months, regardless of age. The mode of occlusive therapy was not an independent risk factor of 12-month mortality (Karamanakos et al., 2011).

2.4.3 Long-term neurological outcome after aSAH

The life expectancy is reduced for patients who survived aSAH (Ronkainen et al., 2001; Molyneux et al., 2009; Wermer et al., 2009). The various neurological deficits, like epilepsy, dementia, shunt-dependent hydrocephalus, depression, cognitive impairment, decreased quality of life, post traumatic distress syndrome are involved both in the increased mortality and morbidity of aSAH patients (Hart et al., 2011; O'Kelly et al., 2009; Al-Khindi et al., 2010; Greebe et al., 2010; Hedlund et al., 2011).

2.5 EASTERN FINNISH SIA DISEASE

Is Finnish sIA disease a definable entity, because aSAH is clearly more frequent in Finland (Ingall et al., 2000)? There seems to be at least one phenotypic difference, increased proportion of sIAs at the MCA bifurcation (Rinne et al., 1994). In the two whole genome SNP association studies (Yasuno et al., 2010; Bilguvar et al. 2008), the profile of associated loci was partially different in Finnish sIA patients from the Kuopio and Helsinki sIA Registries.

Is Eastern Finnish sIA disease a subtype of Finnish sIA disease? Single nucleotide polymorphism association (Salmela et al., 2008) studies and Y-chromosomal variations (Lappalainen et al., 2006) suggest that Western and Eastern Finland have partially different population histories. Eastern Finland offers an opportunity to study familial sIA disease (Ronkainen et al., 1997; Ronkainen et al., 1998). Small founder population may support the identification of genomic variants behind the complex sIA disease, affected by inherited as well as acquired risk factors.

2.5.1 Catchment population of Kuopio University Hospital (KUH)

The geographic area has remained the same, but the population has decreased from 863,726 in 1980 to 851,066 in 2007. During the same period, the median age increased from 31 to 42 years in males and from 34 to 45 years in females, but the proportion of males has remained unchanged at 49%.

2.5.2 Kuopio Neurosurgery sIA Database (www.uef.fi/ns)

Since 1977, Neurosurgery of KUH has solely provided full-time (7 days, 24 hours) acute and elective neurosurgical services for the KUH catchment area in Eastern Finland (Figure 1.1). The KUH area contains four central hospitals with catchment

areas of their own. CT was available since 1980 in Kuopio, 1983 in Mikkeli, 1985 in Jyväskylä, 1988 in Savonlinna and 1989 in Joensuu.

Patients with acute SAH have been acutely admitted to the KUH for angiography and treatment if not moribund or very aged. Cases with unruptured IA(s) detected have also had a neurosurgical consultation for elective occlusion. In both instances, exact numbers of rejection are not available.

KUH Neurosurgery maintains a database on all cases of aSAH or unruptured IAs admitted to the KUH since 1977, retrospective from 1977 to 1989, and prospective from 1990. The Database was created by Juha Hernesniemi, since 1997 Professor and Head of Helsinki Neurosurgery. A dedicated full-time nurse has interviewed all new cases of sIA and aSAH, and collected detailed information, including family history for the sIA disease. Clinical data from the hospital periods and follow-up visits have also been entered. The criteria for a sIA family is at least two affected first-degree relatives. The phenotype, genetics, and outcome of Eastern Finnish sIA disease have been analysed in many local and collaborative studies (Ronkainen et al., 1998; Ronkainen et al., 2001; Ronkainen et al., 1999; Ronkainen et al., 1997; Hernesniemi et al., 1993; Lehecka et al., 2007; van der Voet et al., 2004; Helgadottir et al., 2008; Bilguvar et al., 2008; Fogelholm et al., 1993).

2.5.3 Genomic studies of sIA disease in KUH catchment population

A variant on 9p21 associated with coronary artery disease, abdominal aortic aneurysm and sIA in 1.131 sIA patients from Finland, the Netherlands and Iceland (Helgadottir et al., 2008). LD block contains CDKN2A and CDKN2B with roles, e.g., in cancer and senescence (Helgadottir et al., 2008). In the first genome-wide SNP association study, new loci on 2q33 and 8q11 and the previous one on 9p21 were identified in 2.045 sIA patients from Finland, the Netherlands and Japan (Bilguvar et al., 2008). In the follow up Genome-wide association study, loci 8q11.23-q12.1 and 9p21.3 were confirmed, and three new loci –10q24.32 and CNNM2 – 13q13.1 and STARD13 – 18q11.2 and RBBP8 were identified (Yasuno et al., 2010). The functional significance of these loci is not known. One of the current trends is to find out large sIA families for exomic or genomic sequencing. Another lead for the identification of genetic components behind the sIA disease is to study associated genetic diseases.

2.5.4 Vascular diseases in KUH population

Cardiovascular events and their risk factors have been monitored carefully in Eastern Finland since the 1970s. The area has been subjected to population based interventions to reduce cardiovascular risk factors. The decline in the incidence and mortality of cardiovascular events coincides with decrease in risk factors. Between 1972 and 2007, the coronary mortality was decreased by 80 %. Diastolic blood pressure decreased by 8.7 mmHg, smoking by 15 percentage points, and cholesterol level by1.54 mmol/ml (Vartiainen et al., 2010).

2.5.5 Familial disease

Ronkainen et al. started analysing the familial sIA disease in the Kuopio sIA Database. In Eastern Finland, approximately 10% of aSAH patients have a familial background of aSAH or incidental sIAs, with at least two affected first-degree family members (Ronkainen et al., 1993). Within sIA families, the risk for harbouring sIAs among asymptomatic family members is at least four times higher than in sporadic aSAH patients (Ronkainen et al., 1997).

The largest twin study to date with 79,664 twin pairs (0.29% monozygotic) and 509 aSAH cases during a follow-up of 6.01 million person-years did not show significant genomic contribution to aSAH (Korja et al., 2010). Familial clustering of risk factors (smoking, hypertension, alcohol) may significantly explain the familial clustering of the sIA disease.

Among familial aSAH patients there was a slight female predominance, the males tended to have aSAH at significantly younger age than the females. The rupture of sIA was at a younger age in familial patients than in sporadic ones. The ruptured familial sIAs were smaller, and they were more often multiple, and located in middle cerebral artery as compared with sporadic aSAH patients (Ronkainen et al., 1995).

Ronkainen et al. concluded that screening of first-degree relatives in familial sIA families constitute a high-risk group for incidental sIAs, and that this group would benefit from screening for asymtomatic sIAs (Ronkainen et al., 1998).

The outcome was similar in the familial and sporadic aSAH groups in the Finnish population (Ronkainen et al., 2001). This might suggest that in both familial and sporadic cases the basic pathological reason for the formation of sIA could be the same.

2.5.6 Concomitant diseases

The occurrence of concomitant diseases has not been comprehensively studied in the Eastern Finnish sIA cohort.

2.5.7 Previous PhD theses on Eastern Finnish sIA disease

Antti Tapaninaho – Non-Ischemic Complications after Subarachnoid Hemorrhage and Aneurysm Surgery (1994).

Jaakko Rinne – Multiple Intracranial Aneurysms: Kuopio Experience on 302 of 1.314 Patients (1996).

Antti Ronkainen – Familial Intracranial Aneurysms (1997).

Timo Koivisto – Prospective Outcome Study of Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: Endovascular versus Surgical Therapy (2002).

Liu Yawu – MRI Characterization of Human Acute Ischemic Stroke: Diffusion and Perfusion Weighted Imaging and Phase Contrast Angiography (2003).

Paula Bendel – Imaging of the Brain after Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage – One-Year MRI Outcome of Surgical and Endovascular Treatment (2009).

Stepani Bendel – Pituitary and Adrenal Response to Critical Illness (2010).

Petros Karamanakos – In progress.

3 Aims of the study

3.1 PHENOTYPE OF SIA DISEASE ON ADMISSION

To study the phenotype of saccular intracranial aneurysm disease in 1770 patients on admission to the Kuopio University Hospital from the Eastern Finnish catchment population and time trends from 1980 to 2007.

3.2 LONG-TERM OUTCOME AFTER ASAH

To analyse the long-term excess mortality and causes of death of familial and sporadic one-year aSAH survivors as compared to the matched Eastern Finnish catchment population.

3.3 IMPACT OF RISK FACTORS ON LONG-TERM OUTCOME AFTER ASAH

To study the incidence of cancer after the sIA diagnosis from 1980 to 2007 in 2904 patients as compared to the KUH catchment population. We hypothesised that a) sIA patients would be predisposed to tobacco related cancers, and that b) familial sIA patients would have different risks of cancer.


4 Saccular intracranial aneurysm disease – distribution of site, size and age suggest different etiologies for aneurysm formation and rupture in 316 familial and 1454 sporadic Eastern Finnish patients¹

Abstract. Finnish saccular intracranial aneurysm (sIA) disease associates to 2q33, 8q11, and 9p21 loci, and links to 19q13, Xp22 and kallikrein cluster in sIA families. Detailed phenotyping of familial and sporadic sIA disease is required for fine mapping of the Finnish sIA disease. Eastern Finland, particularly isolated genetically, is served by Kuopio Neurosurgery. We studied the site and size distribution of unruptured and ruptured sIAs in correlation to age and sex in 316 familial and 1454 sporadic sIA patients on first admission from 1993 to 2007. The familial and sporadic aSAH patients had slightly different median ages (46 vs. 51 years in males; 50 vs. 57 years in females), different proportion of males (50% vs. 42%), equal median diameter of ruptured sIAs (7mm vs. 7mm) with no correlation to age, and equally unruptured sIAs (30% vs. 28%). The unruptured sIAs were most frequent at MCA bifurcation (44% vs. 39%) and ACoA (12% vs. 13%) in contrast to the ruptured sIAs at ACoA (37% vs. 29%) and MCA bifurcation (29% vs. 29%). The size of unruptured sIAs increased by age in the sporadic group. The MCA bifurcation was most prone to develop unruptured sIAs, suggesting that MCA branching during embryonic period might be involved. Different site distribution of ruptured and unruptured sIAs suggests different etiologies for sIA formation and rupture. No correlation of size and age at rupture (exposure to risk factors) suggest that the size at rupture is more dependent on hemodynamic stress.

¹Adapted with permission of the Neurosurgery from: Huttunen T., von und zu Fraunberg M., Frösen J., et al. Distribution of site, size and age in saccular intracranial aneurysm disease suggest different risk factors for formation and rupture – analysis of 316 familial and 1454 sporadic patients, Neurosurgery. 2010;66(4):631-638; discussion 638. ©2010 Neurosurgery. All rights reserved.

4.1 INTRODUCTION

Subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) from ruptured saccular intracranial aneurysm (sIA) is a devastating form of stroke that affects working age population (van Gijn et al., 2007; Bederson et al., 2009). The sIA disease is a complex trait. Its phenotypic tissue, branching site of major cerebral artery under hemodynamic stress (Alnaes et al., 2007), is poorly characterized in embryonic and adult cellular and molecular biology. Some 2% of population develops sIAs (Ronkainen et al., 1998; Feigin et al., 2005) but most do not rupture during life as the general annual incidence of SAH is 9 per 100 000 (de Rooij et al., 2007). Risk factors include age, female sex, smoking, hypertension, and excess drinking (Feigin et al., 2005), and at least 10% of aSAH patients have a family history (Ronkainen et al., 1997; Ruigrok et al., 2005). Mechanisms by which risk factors affect the formation of sIA pouch (primary phenotype) and the rupture of sIA wall (secondary phenotype) have to be elucidated for novel methods to identify sIA carriers and to occlude sIA pouches (Shi et al., 2009).

Our concortium (www.fiarc.fi) studies the genetics of sIA disease (Ronkainen et al., 1997; van der Voet et al., 2004; Helgadottir et al., 2008; Bilguvar et al., 2008; Ronkainen et al., 1999) and the biology of sIA wall (Frosen et al., 2004; Frosen et al., 2006; Tulamo et al., 2006; Laaksamo et al., 2008) in the Finnish population, particularly prone to aSAH (de Rooij et al., 2007). The genetic homogeneity of Finns (Laaksamo et al., 2008) may support indentification of genetic variants behind the sIA disease. In familial sIA patients from Southern Finland and Eastern Finland, genome-wide linkage analysis showed linkage to 19q13 (van der Voet et al., 2004) and Xp22 (Olson et al., 2002), both replicated in Japan (Yamada et al., 2004) as well as to kallikrein gene cluster (Weinsheimer et al., 2007). A variant on 9p21 associated with coronary artery disease, abdominal aortic aneurysm and sIA in 1.131 sIA patients from Finland, the Netherlands and Iceland (Helgadottir et al., 2008). In a genome-wide SNP association study, new loci on 2q33 and 8q11 and the previous one on 9p21 were identified in 2.045 sIA patients from Finland, the Netherlands and Japan (Bilguvar et al., 2008). For further mapping of the Finnish sIA disease, more data on the phenotype, acquired risk factors, and concomitant arterial diseases are required.

The Eastern Finnish gene pool has been particularly affected by a small number of founders, isolation, and major bottlenecks (Peltonen et al., 1999). In the present study, we analysed the phenotype on admission in the sIA Registry of Kuopio Neurosurgery, serving solely Eastern Finland. We studied the size and site distribution of unruptured and ruptured sIAs in correlation to age and sex in 316 familial and 1454 sporadic sIA patients from 1993 and 2007. Furthermore, we analysed the changes of age and sex distribution in an extended recruitment period from 1980 and 2007 in comparison to ageing catchment population.

4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.2.1 Catchment population of Kuopio University Hospital

During the study period from 1980 to 2007, Neurosurgery of Kuopio University Hospital (KUH) solely provided full-time (7 days, 24 hours) acute and elective neurosurgical services for the KUH catchment area in Eastern Finland (Figure 4.1). The KUH area contains four central hospitals with catchment areas of their own. CT was available since 1980 in Kuopio, 1983 in Mikkeli, 1985 in Jyväskylä, 1988 in Savonlinna and 1989 in Joensuu. From 1980 to 2007, the geographic area remained the same. The population decreased from 863,726 to 851,066 while the median age increased from 31 to 42 years in males and from 34 to 45 years in females. The proportion of males remained unchanged at 49% (Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.1. Map of the catchment area of Kuopio University Hospital (KUH), containing 4 central hospitals in Joensuu, Jyväskylä, Mikkeli, and Savonlinna. The areas of the 4 other university hospitals in Helsinki, Oulu, Tampere, and Turku are also delineated.

4.2.2 Cases of subarachnoid hemorrhage or unruptured intracranial aneurysm in the KUH area

Patients with acute SAH have been acutely admitted to the KUH for angiography and treatment if not moribund or very aged. Cases with unruptured IA(s) detected have also had a neurosurgical consultation for elective occlusion. In both instances, exact numbers of rejection are not available.

4.2.3 Kuopio IA Database

KUH Neurosurgery maintains a database on all cases of aSAH or unruptured IAs admitted to the KUH since 1977, retrospective from 1977 to 1989, and prospective from 1990. The database is run by a dedicated full-time nurse who interviews all new cases of IA and aSAH, and collects detailed information, including family history for sIA disease. Clinical data from the hospital periods and follow-up visits are also entered. The criteria for an sIA family was at least two affected first-degree relatives. Several genetic studies of Eastern Finnish sIA disease have been published (Ronkainen et al., 1998; Ronkainen et al., 1997; van der Voet et al., 2004; Olson et al., 2002; Helgadottir et al., 2008; Bilguvar et al. 2008; Ronkainen et al., 1999; Weinsheimer et al., 2007).

4.2.4 Study population

The inclusion criteria were:

1. citizen of Finland and resident of the KUH catchment area at the time of diagnosis of sIA disease between January 1, 1980 and December 31, 2007.

2. admission to the KUH and verification of sIA(s) by angiography or at autopsy.

The exclusion criteria were:

1. patients with other forms of IA(s) (e.g., fusiform, traumatic or mycotic) but no saccular IA(s).

4.2.5 Variables

The variables were: age at first diagnosis of sIA disease; sex; family history; number of sIAs; exact site of each sIA; ruptured or unruptured sIA; the longest of three perpendicular measures of sIA lumen; and year of first diagnosis from 1980 to 2007. The sIA variables were analysed in detail from 1993 to 2007, the period of routine imaging of both carotid and vertebral arteries as well as MRA at KUH.

4.2.6 Ethical aspects

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Kuopio University Hospital.

4.2.7 Statistical analysis

The subjects were either patients or sIAs. Discrete variables were expressed in proportions and continuous variables in medians and ranges. Groups were compared using the Fisher exact test, Chi-square test, Mann-Whitney U-test or Kruskal-Wallis test when appropriate. Continuous variables were correlated using the Spearman rank correlation test. P-values less than 0.05 were considered significant. SPSS 14.0 statistical software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL) was used.

4.3 RESULTS

4.3.1 Familial and sporadic sIA patients from 1980 to 2007 in Eastern Finland

The entire study population was 2899 consecutive sIA patients diagnosed between 1980 and 2007, inclusive, 474 familial patients from 294 families, and 2.425 sporadic patients. Time trends are demonstrated in Figure 4.2. Cases with unruptured sIA(s) only increased dramatically since about 1993.

4.3.2 Familial and sporadic sIA patients at first aSAH - trends from 1980 to 2007

From 1980 to 2007, there were 2.285 sIA patients with aSAH at first diagnosis, 307 (13%) familial and 1.979 (87%) sporadic (Table 4.1). In the catchment population, the proportion of males remained unchanged (49%), but the median ages of males (31 vs. 42 years) and females (34 years vs. 45 years) increased remarkably (Figure 4.2). From the first 5-year period (1980-1984) to the last (2003-2007), male aSAH patients

increased slightly in the familial group (42% vs. 50%; p=0.285) but decreased in the sporadic group (54% vs. 43%; p=0.004) (Table 4.1). The median age of male aSAH patients increased both in the familial group (39 years vs. 51 years; p=0.003) and in the sporadic group (45 years vs. 51 years; p<0.0001). The median age of female aSAH patients increased both in the familial group (47 years to 52 years; p=0.074) and in the sporadic group (50 years vs. 56 years; p<0.0001).

	Patients	Females vs	Median age	
between 1980 and 2007.				
first subarachnoid hemorrhage	e (aSAH) from s	accular intracranial and	eurysm (sIA)	
Table 4. 1. Characteristics of 3	307 familial and	1978 sporadic Eastern	Finnish patients wi	th

	Patients		Fem mal	iales vs. es		at aSAH
	n	%		n	%	yr
Entire period 1980-2007						
Familial aSAH patients	307	13	F	150	49	50 (40-61)
			Μ	157	51	45 (37-53)
Sporadic aSAH patients	1979	87	F	1071	54	55 (45-65)
			Μ	908	46	49 (40-58)
Time period 1980-1984						
Familial aSAH patients	55	15	F	32	58	47 (30-60)
			Μ	23	42	39 (32-49)
Sporadic aSAH patients	307	85	F	140	46	50 (42-57)
			М	167	54	45 (42-57)
Time period 2003-2007						
Familial aSAH patients	38	10	F	19	50	52 (45-59)
			Μ	19	50	51 (43-58)
Sporadic aSAH patients	339	90	F	193	57	56 (48-69)
			М	146	43	51 (44-58)

sIA, saccular intracranial aneurysm; aSAH, subarachnoid hemorrhage from ruptured sIA; F female, M male. For age distribution, 25% and 75% percentiles are also given in parentheses.



Figure 4.2. Median ages of familial and sporadic aSAH patients admitted to Kuopio University Hospital between 1980 and 2007 as compared to the catchment population (A-C). Gender distribution of aSAH patients (D). Annual numbers of ruptured and unruptured sIA cases (E).

During the last 15 years, there were 168 (14%) familial and 1069 (86%) sporadic patients with first aSAH (Table 4.2). The familial aSAH patients had equal sex distribution and were 5 to 8 years younger than the sporadic ones. The most frequent sites of the ruptured sIAs were ACoA (37% vs. 29%; p=0.048), MCA bifurcation (29% vs. 29%), and PCoA (11% vs. 12%) (Table 4.3). Gender and age did not correlate to the site distribution of ruptured familial or sporadic sIAs. Their median diameters were equal at 7 mm (Table 4.3). Age did not correlate to the diameter of ruptured familial or sporadic sIAs either (Figure 4.3).

	Patients	5	Fem male	ales vs. es		Median age at diagnosis	Median size of ruptured
	n	%		n	%	vr	mm
Familial sIA patients	316	18	F M	167 149	53 47	49 (44-59) 47 (40-56)	6 (4-8) 6 (4-8)
Patients with aSAH	168		F M	84 84	50 50	50 (44-61) 46 (38-57)	7 (5-9) 7 (5-10)
with one or more associated sIAs	51	30	F	32	63	50 (45-61)	7 (6-10)
			М	19	37	47 (43-59)	7 (5-8)
Patients with no aSAH	148		F M	83 65	56 44	49 (44-56) 49 (43-55)	-
two or more sIAs	48	32	F M	26 22	54 46	52 (46-60) 46 (40-54)	-
Sporadic sIA patients	1454	82	F M	839 615	58 42	57 (48-68) 52 (44-61)	6 (4-10) 7 (4-10)
Patients with aSAH	1069		F M	625 444	58 42	57 (47-67) 51 (43-59)	6 (4-10) 8 (5-10)
with one or more	294	28	F	180	61	56 (47-66)	7 (5-10)
associated stas			М	114	39	51 (45-59)	8 (6-12)
Patients with no ASAH	385		F M	214 171	56 44	58 (49-69) 55 (48-64)	-
two or more sIAs	97	25	F M	55 42	57 43	58 (47-69) 50 (47-60)	-

Table 4.2. Characteristics of 316 familial and 1454 sporadic Eastern Finnish patients with saccular intracranial aneurysm (sIA) disease first diagnosed between 1993 and 2007, the period of routine imaging of both carotid and vertebral arteries.

sIA, saccular intracranial aneurysm; aSAH, subarachnoid hemorrhage from ruptured sIA; F female; M male.

For age and size distributions, 25% and 75% percentiles are also given in parentheses.

Table 4.3. Characteristics of 489 familial and 2065 sporadic saccular intracranial aneurysms (sIAs) at first diagnosis of sIA disease in Eastern Finland between 1993 and 2007, the period of routine imaging of both carotid and vertebral arteries.

	Fan	ilial sI	As							Spore	idic sIA	s						
	Ιu	atient	s with aS	ΆH			In pat no SAI	ients wi H	ith	In pa	tients v	/ith aSAH				In pa no aS	tients w AH	ith
	Rup	tured sI.	As	Unru	ptured	sIAs	Unrupt	ured sIA:	s	Ruptu	red sIAs		Unrupt	tured sIA:	s	Unrup	tured sIA	SI
	z	%	Size	z	%	Size	z	%	Size	z	%	Size	z	%	Size	z	%	Size
			mm			mm			mm			mm			mm			mm
Total	16	100	7	96	100	m	225	100	4	106	100	7	457	100	m	540	100	ß
Female	8 8	50	7	63	99	ſſ	173	с С	4	1 הסק	50	α	289	63	ſſ	302	95	ſ
Male	84	50	~ ~	0 . 	34 8	იო	102	45	- 4	436	41	0 0	168	37	n M	238	44	лю
*110 801	Ċ	1	ų	2	Ę	ſ	Ç	2	•		ç	r	50,	Ċ	Ţ	(, ,		L
	אַ א	1	0 1	7,	7	N (4	77	4 ·	240 101	7	`	104	۲ ۲	4 ·	143	0 7 1	n ı
ICA PCoA	18	11	~ r	ഗ	ഗ	Ω, ι	р о	4,	4,	135	12		6 c M	ი ი	4 •	40 0 v	~ 1	س ،
ICADIF	ი	Υ	~	'n	ň	'n	x	4	4	дç	'n	٥	13	Υ	4	76	ŋ	4
ACA all	68	41	9	21	22	m	37	17	ю	377	35	9	91	20	m	06	17	4
A1	0	,		2	2	7	1	0.4	m	8	1	4	9	H	7	1	0.2	2
ACoA	62	37	9	10	10	2	26	12	ы	307	29	9	47	10	m	69	13	4
A2 – A5	9	4	4	6	10	4	10	4	ε	62	9	Ŋ	38	8	с	20	4	Ŋ
MCA all	62	37	ŋ	51	53	4	128	57	4	342	32	ø	226	48	m	246	45	9
M1	12	7	9	13	14	4	21	6	m	25	2	9	39	6	2	23	4	4
Mbif	48	29	10	31	32	4	66	44	ъ	311	29	8	169	35	m	209	38	9
M2 - M5	2	1	10	7	7	2	8	4	м	9	1	4	18	4	m	14	ო	4
VA all*	4	7	4	H	H	7	m	F	7	35	m	4	ы	Ŧ	9	13	2	4
VA PICA	1	H	4	Ч	Ч	2	7	H	2	31	с	4	4	1	4	10	2	4
BA all*	ß	m	ŋ	7	2	2	10	4	'n	67	~	ø	28	9	7	46	0	ø
BAbif	2	1	21	1	Ч	2	6	4	9	55	Ŋ	8	11	2	Ŋ	34	9	8
PCA all	0		ı	0			0			7	1	ß	ĸ	2	2	2	1	4
^a SI ⁴	A, sacct	Jar intra	acranial a	neurysr	n; aSAF	H, aneurysn	al subari	achnoid h	nemorrhag	e; ICA, ir	iternal ci	arotid arter	-y; PCoA	, posteric		icating a	irtery;	
۲) T), iu	א הוותו כנ	זו נוטוו, אל	א' מוויכ	ומ	בחו מו חבו א	'NY-TY '	DC CY-TH	בטוובוונט טו		יטא, מוונכ		מווורמרווור	ן מורכו <i>ץ</i> ,	ויוכא, ווויעמ	ום רכו כה	מו	

artery; M1-M5, M1-M5 segments of MCA; Mbif, MCA bifurcation; VA, vertebral artery; PICA, posterior inferior cerebellar artery; BA, basilar artery; BAbif, BA bifurcation; PCA posterior cerebral artery. All sizes are medians. * All locations are not presented because of small numbers.

4.3.4 Unruptured sIAs in familial and sporadic sIA patients at first aSAH (1993-2007) During the last 15 years, 30% of the familial and 28% of the sporadic aSAH patients presented with associated unruptured sIAs (Table 4.2). Associated sIAs were less frequent in males in the familial aSAH group (23% vs. 38%; p=0.044) and the sporadic aSAH group (26% vs. 29%) (Table 4.2). Age did not correlate with the presence of associated sIAs in either group. The median numbers of associated sIAs per patient were 3 (range 2 to 7) and 3 (range 2 to 6), respectively. Age and gender did not correlate with the number of associated sIAs. The most frequent sites in the familial and sporadic groups were Mbif (32% vs. 35%); M1 (14% vs. 9%) and ACoA 10% vs. 10% (Table 4.2). The median diameters were equal at 3 mm, with no correlation with age and gender (Table 4.2, Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.3. Correlation of age at diagnosis and diameter of unruptured and ruptured familial and sporadic sIAs. Regression lines and 95% confidence intervals are shown. All sIAs (upper), middle cerebral artery bifurcation (Mbif) sIAs (middle) and anterior communicating artery (ACoA) sIAs (lower).

4.3.5 Unruptured sIAs in familial and sporadic sIA patients with no aSAH (1993-2007)

During the last 15 years, there were 148 familial and 385 sporadic patients with 225 and 540 unruptured sIA(s) but no aSAH at first diagnosis. The proportions of males were 44% and 44%, and the median ages 49 years vs. 55 years for males (p<0.0001) and 49 years vs. 58 years for females (p<0.0001), respectively. The median numbers of associated sIAs per patient were 2 (range, 1 to 6) and 1 (range, 1 to 6). Age or gender did not correlate to the number of associated sIAs. The most frequent sites in the familial and sporadic groups were MCA bifurcation (44% vs. 39 %) and ACoA (12% vs. 13 %) (Table 4.3). The median diameters were 4 mm vs. 5 mm (p=0.0001), respectively. The diameter increased by age in the sporadic group (p=0.001) but not in the familial group (Figure 4.3). Gender did not correlate with the diameter (Table 4.2).

4.4 DISCUSSION

Our concortium (www.fiarc.fi) studies the genetics of sIA disease (Ronkainen et al., 1997; van der Voet et al., 2004; Helgadottir et al., 2008; Bilguvar et al., 2008; Ronkainen et al., 1999) and the biology of sIA wall tissue (Frosen et al., 2004; Frosen et al., 2006; Tulamo et al., 2006; Laaksamo et al., 2008) in the Finnish population with high incidence of aSAH (de Rooij et al., 2007). Finland has long been isolated for geographic, linguistic, and cultural reasons (Peltonen et al., 1999). Mitochondrial DNA indicates that Finns do not significantly differ from other European populations (Lahermo et al., 1996). SNP association analyses (Salmela et al., 2008) and Y-chromosomal variations (Lappalainen et al., 2006) suggest that Western and Eastern Finland have partly different population histories. The Eastern Finnish gene pool has been affected by a small number of founders, isolation, and major bottlenecks (Peltonen et al., 1999).

4.4.1 Eastern Finnish familial and sporadic sIA cohort

The impact of familial background on Eastern Finnish sIA disease at first diagnosis was modest in this study and in the previous one (Ronkainen et al., 1999; Ronkainen et al., 1995). The Kuopio sIA registry now consists of 294 sIA families with at least two affected first-degree relatives, but many families share a common ancestry in the 16th to 20th centuries due to small number of founders (Peltonen et al., 1999). Next, we will analyse the occurrence of concomitant diseases during long-term follow up in our sIA cohort as compared to the matched catchment population because sIA candidate genes or variants might act indirectly, e.g., through hypertension or atherosclerosis. Improved neuroimaging and aging of the population clearly affected our cohort, showing that time trends matter if large sIA cohorts are compared (van Munster et al., 2008; Mahindu et al., 2008).

4.4.2 Multiple sIAs

One would expect that familial background predisposes to multiple sIAs (Ruigrok et al., 2004), and they were more frequent in the familial non-aSAH patients (32% vs. 25%) but not in the aSAH patients (30% vs. 28%) (Ronkainen et al., 1995).

4.4.3 Age and gender at first diagnosis

Familial patients were a few years younger than the sporadic ones, but the ages in both groups reflected that of the catchment population. This would suggest that familial patients had also been affected by acquired risk factors. In the entire cohort, male sporadic aSAH patients reduced from slight dominance to minority, possibly due to reduced cardiovascular risk factors among Eastern Finnish males (Vartiainen et al., 2000; Broderick et al., 2003). For unknown reasons, females have dominated sIA cohorts more than catchment populations (Weir et al., 2002; Carter et al., 2006) and this was seen also in our familial non-aSAH patients but not in the aSAH patients.

4.4.4 Site distribution of unruptured and ruptured sIAs

We divided sIAs into (a) ruptured sIAs, (b) unruptured sIAs in aSAH patients, and (c) unruptured sIAs without aSAH. The MCA bifurcation and the ACoA were almost equal sites for the ruptured sIAs, but the MCA bifurcation was dominant among the unruptured ones (Carter et al., 2006; Rinne et al., 1994), even more so in the sIA carriers without aSAH (40% vs. 12%), regardless of familial background. The different site distribution of unruptured and ruptured sIAs (Carter et al., 2006) suggests different risk factors for the sIA pouch formation (primary phenotype) and for the sIA wall rupture (secondary phenotype). This finding is crucial for molecular biology studies of the sIA disease but its significance has not been stressed. It is amazing that the distal bifurcation of the M1 trunk is more prone to develop sIAs that the more proximal bifurcations of the carotid and basilar arteries. Unfavourable ratio of hemodynamic stress to arterial wall thickness at the MCA bifurcation might be a factor. We hypothesise, however, that molecular biology of MCA branching during embryonic period is also involved. To our knowledge, this has not been discussed and no data are available.

4.4.5 Diameter of sIAs

One would expect that familial background predisposes to larger sIAs (Ruigrok et al., 2004), but the median diameters of ruptured familial and sporadic sIAs were equal (7 mm), also at the ACoA (6mm) but slightly different at the MCA bifurcation (10mm vs. 8mm). One would also expect that the diameters of sIAs increase by age due to longer exposure to risk factors. Importantly, Carter et al showed that the unruptured sIAs increased in size by age but the ruptured sIAs did not (Carter et al., 2006). Our study confirms this crucial finding for molecular biology of the sIA disease, more in sporadic sIAs than in familial ones. Carter et al found, as in our study, that the distal sIAs were smaller at rupture than the proximal ones (Table 3). We hypothesise that some aneurysms become rupture prone, and their diameter at rupture is more dependent on hemodynamic stress and site than other risk factors.

4.5 CONCLUSIONS

- 1. From 1980 to 2007 the median age of the KUH catchment population increased from 33 years to 44 years. Familial and sporadic sIA patients aged with the catchment population which should be noted when large cohorts with long recruitment time are compared.
- 2. The phenotype at first diagnosis was only modestly different in the familial variant of Eastern Finnish sIA disease.
- 3. The MCA bifurcation is more prone to develop unruptured sIAs where as the anterior communicating artery ruptures most frequently. We hypothesise that branching morphogenesis (Horowitz and Simons, 2008) of the MCA bifurcation during embryonic period would be involved.
- 4. Differences between the distribution of ruptured and unruptured sIA sites suggest different etiologies for sIA formation and rupture.
- 5. No correlation between diameter at rupture and time of exposure to risk factors suggest that the diameter at rupture is more dependent on hemodynamic stress and site than other risk factors.

5 Long-term excess mortality of 244 familial and 1,502 sporadic one-year survivors of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage as compared to matched Eastern Finnish catchment population²

Abstract. We analysed the long term excess mortality of 244 familial and 1,502 sporadic one-year survivors of subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) from saccular intracranial aneurysm (sIA) as compared to a matched Eastern Finnish catchment population. Kuopio Neurosurgery Database contains 1,746 one-year survivors of aSAH (1980-2007) from a defined population. The median follow-up time, until death (n=494) or the end of 2008, was 12 years. Relative survival ratios (RSR) were calculated as compared to the matched (gender, age, calendar time) catchment population. Relative excess risks of death (RER) were estimated for variables known on admission for aSAH as well as Glasgow Outcome Scale at 12 months. There was 12% excess mortality at 15 years (cumulative RSR 0.88 (CI 95% 0.85-0.91)). Independent risk factors were male gender (RER 1.6), age over 64 years (2.9), ruptured basilar tip sIA (4.5), severe hydrocephalus on admission (3.6), no occlusive therapy (6.0), and GOS 2, 3 or 4 at 12 months (23, 4.1, 2.1), but not familial sIA disease. There were lethal rebleeds from 13 of the 1.440 clipped sIAs, two of the 265 coiled sIAs, and two from the 17 non-occluded sIAs, and 14 new lethal bleeds from other sIAs. The impact of both sporadic and familial aSAH and their sequelae in the central nervous and cardiovascular system may cause long-term morbidity and mortality. The complex sIA disease may predispose to other vascular events in later life. The causes of the long term excess mortality are heterogeneous, and more detailed analyses are required.

² Adapted with permission of the Neurosurgery from: Huttunen T, von und Zu Fraunberg M, Koivisto T, et al. Long-term excess mortality of 244 familial and 1502 sporadic one-year survivors of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage compared with a matched Eastern Finnish catchment population. *Neurosurgery*. 2011;68(1):20-27. ©2010 Neurosurgery. All rights reserved.

5.1 INTRODUCTION

Saccular intracranial aneurysms (sIAs) develop during life in some 2% of population (Ronkainen et al., 1998). Rupture of the sIA wall causes almost all cases of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH)(van Gijn et al., 2007). Acute aSAH is a complex and critical systemic condition. Survivors of the primary bleed require multidisciplinary neurointensive care to prevent further damage, e.g., from rebleeding, hydrocephalus, increased ICP, delayed ischemic brain injury, seizures, electrolyte disturbances, cardiac and pulmonary dysfunction, and complications of the management (Bederson et al., 2009; Levine, 2009). There is a significant excess mortality for at least one year after acute aSAH (Guresir et al., 2008; Wartenberg et al., 2006; Hernesniemi et al., 1993; Langham et al., 2009; Lehecka et al., 2008; Molyneux et al., 2005; O'Kelly et al., 2009; Rosengart et al., 2007; van der Bilt et al., 2009; Wartenberg et al., 2006).

Sequelae of aSAH may cause long-term mortality, e.g., by predisposing to epilepsy, depression, dementia, shunt complications, hypothalamic and hypophyseal disorders, or cerebrovascular events. The sIA disease is a complex trait (Hardy and Singleton, 2009; Hindorff et al., 2009), affected by acquired risk factors and variants of the genome which may sensitize also to cardiovascular events in later life (Ronkainen et al., 2001). Population-based studies of the long-term excess mortality and its causes after aSAH are few (Lehecka et al., 2007; Wermer et al., 2009). In the ISAT cohort, 1.413 one year survivors of aSAH from U.K. presented with 144 deaths in a mean of 9 years against 92 expected deaths from the standard death rates of England and Wales (Molyneux et al., 2009).

Our consortium (www.fiarc.fi) studies the sIA disease in the Finnish population (Bilguvar et al., 2008; van der Voet et al., 2004; Frosen et al., 2004; Frosen et al., 2006; Helgadottir et al., 2008; Laaksamo et al., 2008; Ronkainen et al., 1997; Ronkainen et al., 1999; Tulamo et al., 2006), particularly prone to aSAH (de Rooij et al., 2007). Kuopio Neurosurgery serves an Eastern Finnish catchment population, genetically characterized by a small number of founders, isolation, and major bottlenecks (Peltonen et al., 1999). In the previous study using the Kuopio sIA Database, 900 aSAH patients with good outcome (GOS 5) at 12 months had a mortality rate twice (SMR 1.96) that of the Eastern Finnish population in a median of 7.5 years (Ronkainen et al., 2001). In the present study, we analyse the long-term excess mortality of 244 familial and 1,502 sporadic one-year aSAH survivors as compared to the same catchment population matched by gender, age, and calendar time.

5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

5.2.1 Catchment population of Kuopio University Hospital

During the study period from 1980 to 2007, Neurosurgery of Kuopio University Hospital (KUH) solely provided full-time acute and elective neurosurgical services for the KUH catchment population in Eastern Finland (Huttunen et al., 2010) The KUH area contains four central hospitals with neurological units and catchment areas of their own. From 1980 to 2007, the geographic area remained the same, the population decreased from 863,726 to

851,066, the median age increased from 31 to 42 years in males and from 34 to 45 years in females, and the proportion of males remained unchanged at 49% (Huttunen et al., 2010).

5.2.2 Admission of SAH patients

All cases of SAH diagnosed by spinal tap or CT at the KUH catchment area were acutely admitted to KUH for angiography and treatment if not moribund or very aged. The exact number of rejected SAH patients are not available.

5.2.3 Kuopio Intracranial Aneurysm Database

KUH Neurosurgery maintains a database (Access) on all cases of unruptured and ruptured intracranial aneurysms admitted to the KUH since 1977. The database has been prospective since 1990, and earlier cases have been entered from the hospital records. The database is run by a dedicated full-time nurse, who interviews all new cases, and collects and codes into variables detailed information, including family history. The criteria for a sIA family is at least two affected first-degree relatives (Huttunen et al., 2010). Clinical data from the hospital periods and follow-up visits are entered. The use of prescribed medicines (1994-2008) by the patients before and after the sIA diagnosis, occurrence of cancer and other diseases, and causes of death have been entered from the national registries. The phenotype, genetics, and outcome of Eastern Finnish sIA disease has been analysed in many local and collaborative studies (Ronkainen et al., 1998; Ronkainen et al., 2001; Bilguvar et al., 2008; Helgadottir et al., 2008; Ronkainen et al., 1997; Ronkainen et al., 1999; van der Voet et al., 2004; Fogelholm et al. 1993; Huttunen et al., 2007).

5.2.4 Study population

The inclusion criteria were:

1. Citizen of Finland and resident of the KUH catchment area at the time of first aSAH between January 1, 1980 and December 31, 2007.

2. Admission alive to the KUH, and verification of sIA(s) by angiography or at autopsy.

The exclusion criteria were:

1. Rupture of an intracranial aneurysm other than a saccular one (e.g., fusiform, traumatic, or mycotic).

5.2.5 Follow up data

The death certificates with the ICD-9 or ICD-10 codes, were obtained from Statistics Finland. All patients were followed up until death or December 31, 2008, and no patient was lost from the follow up.

5.2.6 Variables in survival analysis

The prognostic variables were divided into four categories: sIA disease carrier (gender; age at aSAH; sporadic vs. familial sIA patient; GOS until 12 months); sIA disease (location

and diameter of the ruptured sIA; condition on admission for aSAH (Hunt & Hess grade; ICH; IVH; acute hydrocephalus); and treatment (year of aSAH; clipping vs. coiling vs. no occlusion of the ruptured sIA) (Table 5.1).

5.2.7 Statistical analysis

Groups were compared using non-parametric statistics, and p-values less than 0.05 were considered significant. SPSS 16.0 statistical software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL) was used.

The relative survival ratio (RSR) was calculated by dividing the observed survival proportion by the expected survival proportion (Ederer et al., 1961). The observed survival was estimated by the actuarial method (Cutler and Ederer, 1958) using annual intervals. The estimates of the expected survival were derived according to the Hakulinen method (Hakulinen, 1982) using the life tables of the KUH catchment population stratified by gender, 1-year age groups, and 1-year calendar periods. Annual and cumulative RSRs with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated from one year after aSAH (Table 5.1).

For multivariate analysis of risk factors potentially associated with mortality one year after aSAH, a relative survival regression model was fitted to the individual-level data with exact survival times using the maximum likelihood approach (Esteve et al., 1990; Dickman et al., 2004). The 11 covariates included in this model were: gender; age at aSAH; location and diameter of the ruptured sIA; Hunt & Hess grade; ICH; IVH; acute hydrocephalus; clipping vs. coiling vs. no occlusion of the ruptured sIA; year of aSAH; GOS until 12 months. These covariates were selected on the basis of prior knowledge of their effects on one-year mortality (Lehecka et al., 2008; Ronkainen et al., 2001; Lehecka et al., 2007). In the model, the observed hazard of death is assumed to be a sum of the catchment population hazard and a non-negative excess hazard, which is modelled as a multiplicative function of covariates. The baseline excess hazard was assumed to be constant within three intervals: 1 to 4 years, 4 to 10 years and after 10 years from admission. The covariates were divided in subgroups (Table 1), and the excess hazards for any two patient subgroups were assumed to be proportional over follow-up time. The relative excess risk (RER) of death was estimated for each subgroup with one subgroup as a reference (Table 5.3). The goodness of fit of the model was assessed using partial residuals, defined similarly to Schoenfeld residuals (Stare et al., 2005), and the assumptions of the model were tested to be appropriate. The 'relsurv' package (Pohar and Stare, 2006) in R(R Development Core Team, 2009) was used to fit the regression model and to assess the goodness of the fit.

5.2.8 Ethical aspects

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Kuopio University Hospital. The causes of deaths were obtained with the permission from the Statistics Finland and the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health of Finland.

5.3 RESULTS

5.3.1 One-year mortality of 2,286 sIA patients admitted for aSAH

Between 1980 and 2007, 307 familial and 1,979 sporadic sIA patients had been admitted alive after aSAH to KUH. During the first 12 months after admission, 64 familial and 476 sporadic patients had died, resulting in 12-month mortality of 21% for the familial patients and 24% for the sporadic ones, respectively (Figures 5.1A and 5.1B).

5.3.2 Long-term excess mortality of 1,746 sIA patients alive one year after aSAH

The long-term excess mortality and the causes of death were analysed for the 1,746 sIA patients alive at 12 months after aSAH (Table 5.1). The median follow-up time until death or the end of 2008 was 12 years. Overall, 494 patients had died: 24 females and 27 males of the 244 familial patients, and 202 females and 241 males of the 1,502 sporadic patients, respectively (Table 5.2). The 15-year cumulative relative survival ratio (RSR) was 0.88 (CI 95% 0.85-0.91), implying 12% excesss mortality as compared to the matched Eastern Finnish catchment population of KUH (Table 5.1). Figures 5.1C and 5.1D show the cumulative relative survival ratios according to gender and familial sIA disease.

University Hosp	ital betv	veen 1	980-20	07 as compared	to the matc	hed East	ern Finnish cato	thment popul	ation ^a		
	Patien alive a	its it one	Cumu surviv	ilative relative ⁄al ratio	Deaths at 1 to 5	Cumul: surviva	ative relative Il ratio	Deaths at 5 to 10	Cumula surviva	ative relative Il ratio	Deaths at 10 to
	year a aSAH	fter	at 5 y	rs	years	at 10 y	'rs	years	at 15 y	rs	15 years
	z	%			z			z			z
All patients	1746	100	0.97	0.96-0.98	125	0.92	0.90-0.94	137	0.88	0.85-0.91	235
females	917	53	0.98	0.96-0.99	54	0.94	0.91-0.96	64	0.91	0.87-0.95	110
males	830	47	0.97	0.94-0.98	71	0.91	0.87-0.94	73	0.84	0.80-0.89	125
familial	244	14	1.00	0.97-1.02	11	0.99	0.93-1.02	11	0.89	0.80-0.96	30
sporadic Age at aSAH	1502	86	0.97	0.95-0.98	114	0.91	0.89-0.93	126	0.87	0.84-0.90	205
(years)		0			(0		I			0
0 - 34 25 64	216 1769	12	0.95	0.91-0.98	12	0.92	0.87-0.95	7	0.90	0.85-0.95	10 17F
- 04 > 65	1200 263	15	0.96	0.90-1.01	41	0.86	0.76-0.95	47 47	0.77	0.62-0.93	50
Site of ruptured											
ACoA	563	32	0.97	0.95-0.99	42	0.93	0.89-0.96	43	0.87	0.82-0.92	71
Mbif	521	30	0.98	0.95-1.00	29	0.94	0.90-0.97	36	06.0	0.84-0.94	86
BAbif	49	м	0.85	0.70-0.93	8	0.78	0.59-0.91	4	0.65	0.41-0.83	5
Size of ruptured sIA (mm)											
< 7	607	35	0.99	0.97-1.00	43	0.95	0.91-0.98	52	0.94	0.88-0.98	66
7 - 14	867	50	0.96	0.94-0.98	61	0.91	0.87-0.94	56	0.85	0.81-0.89	108
> 14	176	10	0.98	0.93-1.01	15	0.92	0.84-0.98	17	0.83	0.72-0.92	48
Hunt&Hess											
grade on admission											
1 - 7	1073	62	0.97	0.95-0.99	74	0.94	0.91-0.96	76	0.89	0.85-0.93	133
ı ١	476	27	0.98	0.95-1.00	35	0.90	0.85-0.94	50	0.86	0.80-0.92	78
4 - 5	198	11	0.96	0.91-0.99	16	0.92	0.83-0.98	11	0.80	0.67-0.91	24
ICH on admission											
yes	359	21	0.97	0.94-0.99	25	0.93	0.87-0.97	28	0.84	0.76-0.91	69
no IVH on	1379	79	0.97	0.96-0.98	98	0.92	0.90-0.94	108	0.88	0.85-0.92	163

	/0-0.09 00 86-0.92 173			87-0.94 151	79-0.91 65	52-0.81 16			68-0.99 8	81-0.92 62			73-0.92 46	86-0.99 38			85-0.91 226	74-1.03 4	46-0.98 3	18-0.95 2		88-0.94 70	76-0.90 24	55-0.79 16	ı	imunicating artery; M	intricular hemorrhage.	
	0.89 0.			0.91 0.	0.85 0.	0.68 0.			0.86 0.	0.87 0.			0.83 0.	0.93 0.			0.88 0.	0.91 0.	0.77 0.	0.59 0.		0.91 0.9	0.84 0.	0.68 0.	•	, anterior com	e; IVH, intrave	
c	02 20			73	48	13			ъ	38			16	20			117	16	4	0		85	32	21	2	ed sIA; ACoA	il hemorrhage	
	0.91-0.96			0.92-0.97	0.86-0.94	0.67-0.89			0.73-0.97	0.89-0.97			0.86-0.99	0.89-0.98			0.90-0.95	0.86-1.00	0.43-0.90	0.33-0.97		0.93-0,97	0.84-0.94	0.67-0.86	0.07-0.82	from rupture	H, intracrania	
	0.94			0.95	06.0	0.80			0.88	0.93			0.93	0.94			0.93	0.94	0.71	0.71		0.95	06.0	0.78	0.43	hemorrhage	urcation; ICF	
o r	20 95			<u>66</u>	47	10			8	33			12	17			101	13	m	7		55	26	24	2	barachnoid	ar artery bif	
	0.96-0.99			0.97-1.00	0.93-0.98	0.82-0.97			0.83-0.99	0.95-0.99			0.93-1.00	0.94-1.00			0.96-0.98	0.95-1.02	0.72-1.02	0.43-0.95		0.97-1.00	0.92-0.99	0.80-0.94	0.27-0.97	ו; aSAH, su	3Abif, basila	
	0.97			0.98	0.96	0.92			0.94	0.97			0.98	0.98			0.97	0.99	0.95	0.77		0.99	0.96	0.88	0.76	ineurysm	cation; E	
ſ	78			63	31	ы			12	88			60	40			82	15	7	Ч		71	20	6	0.4	nial a	· bifur	
1 7	371 1367			1101	547	85			67	494			208	311			1440	265	24	17		1242	346	151	7	intracra	artery	
admission	yes no	Hydrocephalus	on admission	none	moderate	severe	Ruptured sIAs	on ACoA	with ICH	without ICH	Ruptured sIAs	on Mbif	with ICH	without ICH	Occlusion of	ruptured sIA	microsurgical	endovascular	other	none	GOS at one year	S	4	m	2	^a sIA, saccular	middle cerebra	

1.0 1.0 0.9 0.9-Cumulative relative survival rate Annual relative survival ratios 0.8 0.8 n = 2286 n = 2286 В А 0.7 0.7 0.6. 0.6 -0.0 0.0 5 10 15 20 5 10 15 20 0 1 0 1 One-year survivors of aSAH 1.0 1.0 0.8 0.8 0.6 0.6 Gender Familial vs sporadic sIA disease 0.4 0.4 С D male n = 830 sporadic n = 1502 0.2-0.2 female n = 917 familial n = 244 0.0 0.0 5 10 15 20 5 10 15 20 1 1 Follow-up time (years) Follow-up time (years)

Figure 5.1 Excess mortality of the aSAH patients as compared to the matched Eastern Finnish catchment population. Cumulative (A) and annual (B) relative survival ratios of 2.286 patients after admission for aSAH. Cumulative relative survival ratios of the1,746 one-year survivors of aSAH by gender (C), and familial vs. sporadic sIA disease (D). The horizontal line at 100% represents the survival of the matched catchment population and curves below that line represent excess mortality of the study population. 95% confidence intervals are indicated by vertical bars.

All aSAH patients

36

	Sporadic		Familial		
	Females	Males	Females	Males	Total
	N (%)				
All patients	798	704	118	126	1746
Median follow-up time	11	12	12	12	12
Number of deaths	202*	241*	24*	27*	494*
Neurological deaths					
sequelae of aSAH	23 (11)	19 (8)	1 (4)	1 (4)	44 (9)
recurrent aSAH	7 (4)	8 (3)	1 (4)	1 (4)	17 (3)
new aSAH	8 (4)	5(2)	1 (4)	0 (0)	14 (3)
ICH	5 (3)	8 (3)	2(9)	2 (7)	17 (3)
brain infarction	18 (9)	9 (4)	4 (18)	1 (4)	32 (7)
dementia	11 (5)	4 (2)	1 (4)	0 (0)	6(1)
other	4 (2)	2 (1)	0 (0)	0 (0)	6(1)
Cardiovascular deaths					
ischemic cardiac	31 (15)	60 (25)	5 (23)	1 (4)	97 (20)
disease			- (-)	a (=)	(-)
other	19 (9)	10 (4)	2 (9)	2 (7)	33 (7)
Cancer	C (2)	21 (0)	1 (1)	1 (1)	20 (0)
pulmonary	6 (3)	21 (9)	1 (4)	1 (4)	29 (6)
gastric	6 (3)	15 (6)	1 (4)	6 (21)	28 (6)
kidney	3 (2)	3(1)	0(0)	0(0)	6(1)
otner	13 (6)	16 (7)	2 (9)	1 (4)	32 (7)
Gastric disease	10 (5)	18 (7)	1 (4)	1 (4)	30 (6)
Pulmonary disease	10(8)	15 (6)	1 (4)	1(4)	33(7)
Kidney disease	6 (3)	5(2)	1(4)	0(0)	12(2)
	6 (3) 8 (4)	5 (Z) 8 (2)	0(0)	I (4) F (10)	12 (2)
I duilla Suicido	ð (4) 0 (0)	ð (3) 6 (3)	0(0)	5 (10) 1 (4)	21 (S) 7 (S)
Juicide	0(0)	4 (3)	0(0)	1 (4) 2 (7)	/ (Z) 9 (D)
Intoxication	∠ (⊥)	4 (Z)	0(0)	2 (<i>1</i>)	0(2)

Table 5.2. Causes of deaths until the end of 2008 of the 1.746 sIA patients alive at 12 months after admission for aSAH from 1980 to 2007.

sIA, saccular intracranial aneurysm; aSAH, subarachnoid hemorrhage from ruptured sIA; ICH, intracranial hemorrhage.

*The percentages of different causes of death are presented in paranthesis in the column.

5.3.3 Causes of death one year after aSAH

In the familial group, the most frequent causes of deaths for the females were ischemic cardiac disease (5 / 24 deaths) and brain infarction (4 / 24), and for the males gastric cancer (6 / 27) and trauma (5 / 27) (Table 5.2). In the sporadic group, the leading causes of death among the females were ischemic cardiac disease (31 / 202) and sequelae of aSAH (23 / 202), for the males ischemic cardiac disease (60 / 241) and pulmonary cancer (21 / 241) (Table 5.2).

Figure 5.2 shows the ages at death plotted against the ages at aSAH according to three vascular causes of death. Lethal brain infarctions and lethal ischemic cardiac events occurred in later life, at the median ages of 78 and 73 years in females and 79 and 66 years in males, respectively (Figures 5.2B and 5.2C). Instead, lethal cases of recurrent or new aSAH occurred earlier (p<0.001), irrespective of age after the first aSAH, at the median age of 67 in females and 52 in males, respectively (Figure 5.2A).



Figure 4.2 Age at aSAH (x-axis) vs age at death (y-axis) according to three vascular causes of death. Recurrent aSAH from previously ruptured sIA vs. new aSAH from another sIA (A). Brain infarction (B), and ischemic cardiac events (C) according to gender.

5.3.4 Recurrent or new aSAH during follow up

The 1,440 clipped cases (1980 – 2007) and the 265 endovascularly treated cases (1992-2007) did not differ in the long-term excess mortality (Table 5.3). There were 13 lethal re-bleeds from the clipped sIAs, two lethal re-bleeds from the coiled sIAs, and two lethal re-bleeds from the untreated ruptured sIAs at the median times of 4.9, 6.8, and 3.2 years, respectively. In addition, there were 14 new lethal bleeds from other sIAs at a median of 9.1 years. Removing the 31 lethal re-bleeds or new bleeds, the 15-year cumulative relative survival ratio (RSR) was still 0.89 (CI 95% 0.86-0.92), implying 11% excess mortality. There were no differences in the rates of re-bleeds or new bleeds between the familial and sporadic patients.

5.3.5 Independent risk factors for long-term excess mortality

In the multivariate regression model for relative excess risk (RER) of death, the male gender (RER 1.6; CI 95% 1.0 -2.7), age over 64 years at aSAH (2.9; 1.2 - 6.9), ruptured basilar tip sIA (4.5; 2.0 - 10), severe hydrocephalus on admission (3.6; 1.8-7), no occlusion of the ruptured sIA (6.0; 1.7-21), and the condition at 12 months after the primary aSAH, GOS 4 (2.2; 1.2-4), GOS 3 (4.1; 2.1-8), and GOS 2 (23;5.7-90) were significantly associated with the increased long-term excess mortality (Table 5.3). Instead, familial sIA disease (Figure 5.1C), and the mode of occlusive therapy, either microsurgical or endovascular were not considered risk factors.

Table 5.3.	Relative excess risks (RERs) of death for
the 1.746	patients alive one year after aSAH

	RER	95% CI
Gender		
Female	1	reference
Male	1.63	0.98 - 2.71
Age at aSAH (years)		
0 - 34	1	reference
35 - 64	1.00	0.51 - 1.96
> 65	2.88	1.19 - 6.94
Familial sIA disease		
yes	1	reference
	1.80	0.76 - 4.28
(mm)	1	roforonco
7 - 14	1 27	0.75 - 2.40
> 15	1.57	0.73 - 2.49
Site of runtured sTA	1.05	0.04 4.00
ACoA	1	reference
Mbif	1.14	0.61 - 2.14
BAbif	4.48	2.01 - 9.99
Other	1.00	0.55 - 1.83
Hunt&Hess Grade on		
admission		
1 - 2	1	reference
3	0.66	0.36 - 1.22
4 - 5	0.77	0.35 - 1.67
ICH on admission		
no	1	reference
yes	1.13	0.57 - 2.23
IVH on admission		
no	1	reference
yes	1.03	0.57 - 2.23
Hydrocephaius on		
	1	roforonco
moderate	1 60	1 01 - 2 83
severe	3 50	1.01 - 2.05
Occlusion of ruptured sIA	5.59	1.01 - 7.15
microsurgical	1 0 70	reference
enuuvasculai	0.79	0.32 - 1.92
none	1.22 6.02	0.20 - 5.72
GOS at one vear	0.02	1.70 - 21.3
5	1	reference
4	2 15	1 12 - 4 10
3	4.13	2.11 - 8.09
2	22.6	5.66 - 90.2

sIA, saccular intracranial aneurysm; aSAH, subarachnoid hemorrhage from ruptured sIA; ACoA, anterior communicating artery; MCA, middle cerebral artery; BAbif, BA bifurcation; ICH, intracranial hemorrhage; IVH, intraventricular hemorrhage

5.4 DISCUSSION

This cohort of 1,746 one-year survivors of aSAH from the Kuopio sIA Database presented with a long term excess mortality of 12% at 15 years as compared to the Eastern Finnish catchment population matched by gender, age at aSAH, and calendar time. Independent patient-related risk factors for the excess mortality were male gender and age over 64 years at aSAH, but not the familial sIA disease. Independent sIA disease related risk factors were the ruptured basilar tip sIA, severe hydrocephalus on admission, no occlusion of the ruptured sIA, and GOS 2-4 at 12 months. In the median follow up time of 12 years, there were 494 deaths of which 17 were caused by a recurrent aSAH and 14 by a new aSAH from another sIA. These 31 aSAH deaths only partially explain the excess mortality of 12% at 15 years.

There are few published population based studies of the long-term excess mortality after aSAH (Ronkainen et al., 2001; Lehecka et al., 2007; Molyneux et al., 2009; Olafsson et al., 1997; Wermer et al., 2009). In Eastern and Southern Finland, 280 patients with a ruptured distal ACA aneurysm did not present with excess mortality after 3 years (Lehecka et al., 2007), possibly because of the distal site of the ruptured aneurysm and the unique location between the cerebral hemispheres. In the previous study from the Kuopio Database, Ronkainen et al. (Ronkainen et al., 2001) observed that 900 aSAH patients with good outcome (GOS 5) at 12 months had a mortality rate twice that of the Eastern Finnish general population in a median follow up time of 7.5 years. There were 14 deaths caused by a new aSAH. Standardised mortality ratios (SMRs) were calculated according to age, sex, and year of admission. They concluded that aSAH is one aspect of chronic general vascular disease, and more attention should be paid to the reduction of risk factors, and the long term follow up of aSAH survivors. In the International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT) cohort, 1.413 one year survivors of aSAH from U.K. were followed up for a mean of 9 years (Molyneux et al., 2009). They presented with an increased SMR (1.57; 144 observed vs. 92 expected deaths) as compared to the standard death rates of England and Wales. There were 17 re-bleeds from the clipped or coiled aneurysms causing 9 deaths, and 6 cases of aSAH from de novo aneurysms causing 3 deaths. In a Dutch cohort of 752 clipped aSAH survivors discharged to home, the SMR was 1.7 overall and 3.2 for the patients under 40 years of age (Wermer et al., 2009).

The strength of the present study is derived from the Finnish health care system. Finland is divided into mutually exclusive geographical catchment areas between the 5 university hospitals. A catchment population served solely by a single neurosurgical unit allows the creation of disease cohorts that are unselected and unbiased to the minimum. Very accurate population and mortality statistics of the stable population, e.g., with causes registered for virtually all deaths, allow the comparison of a defined disease cohort to the catchment population. The expertise of the Finnish Cancer Registry has allowed to calculate the relative mortality ratios, e.g., for intracranial meningiomas (Kallio et al., 1992) distal ACA aneurysms (Lehecka et

al., 2007) and AVMs (Laakso et al., 2008). Unlike the standardised mortality ratio (SMR), a ratio of the observed and expected numbers of deaths, (Ronkainen et al., 2001; Molyneux et al., 2009) the relative survival ratio (RSR) takes into account possible temporal variations in the excess mortality. The annual and cumulative relative survival ratios allow a more comprehensive presentation of the data in the course of follow up time in the form of survival time plots (Figure 5.1).

The covariates tested (gender; age at aSAH, location and diameter of the ruptured sIA, Hunt & Hess grade, ICH; IVH; acute hydrocephalus, clipping vs. coiling vs. no occlusion of the ruptured sIA, year of aSAH, GOS until 12 months) were selected on the basis of prior knowledge of their effects on one-year mortality (Lehecka et al., 2008; Ronkainen et al., 2001; Lehecka et al., 2007). The outcome of familial and sporadic aSAH patients has not been compared previously. The multivariable analyses should be interpreted with caution. The covariates investigated may be thought to be important risk factors because they are associated with a small P value, and other covariates may be thought not to be risk factors because of larger P values, but both opinions may be erroneous (type I and type II statistical errors, respectively). Additional studies are necessary to address the reliability of these exploratory findings.

The present study is based on the rather homogeneous Eastern Finnish population, and our results require replication in unselected multi-ethnic populations. For centuries, Finland had been long been isolated for geographic, linguistic, and cultural reason.(Peltonen et al., 1999) Mitochondrial DNA indicates that Finns do not significantly differ from other European populations (Lahermo et al., 1996). SNP association analyses (Salmela et al., 2008) and Y-chromosomal variations (Lappalainen et al., 2006) suggest that Western and Eastern Finland have partly different population histories. The Eastern Finnish gene pool has been affected by a small number of founders, isolation, and major bottlenecks (Peltonen et al., 1999). There were 244 familial aSAH patients in the present cohort, and many of them must share a common ancestry in the 16th to 20th centuries due to small number of founders (Peltonen et al., 1999).

The familial sIA disease did not associate with the long term excess mortality (Figure 1C). In our previous study of the sIA phenotype on admission, the familial males and females were only a few years younger than the sporadic ones, and the proportions of multiple sIAs were equal at 30% and 28% (Huttunen et al., 2010). These findings indicate that the the familial sIA disease is not particularly grave as compared to the sporadic sIA disease, at least when the minimum requirement for an sIA family is two affected first degree relatives. For comparison, the differences in the age of onset and proportion of multiple meningiomas and schwannomas are remarkable between sporadic and neurofibromatosis type 2 type patients.

The causes of the long term excess mortality after aSAH are heterogeneous, and more detailed analyses are required. The UK cohort (Molyneux et al., 2009) and the present cohort of 1,413 and 1,746 one year aSAH survivors, respectively, were not analysed for the relative distribution of the causes of deaths as compared to that of the corresponding catchment populations. New cases of aSAH, from previously occluded, untreated, or de novo aneurysms, caused more deaths than would be expected in general population. Instead, it is difficult to pinpoint which other causes of deaths were truly overrepresented among the one year survivors of aSAH.

The impact of aSAH and its sequelae in the central nervous system and the cardiovascular system may cause long-term morbidity and mortality. Survivors of aSAH are potentially at risk to neurological morbidity from, e.g., epilepsy, depression, dementia, shunt complications, hypothalamic and hypophyseal disorders, and ischemic cerebrovascular events. All these may add to the excess mortality. The sIA disease is a complex trait, like diabetes type 2 or Alzheimer's disease, affected by acquired risk factors and variants of the genome, and by their interactions (Hardy and Singleton, 2009; Hindorff et al., 2009). The genomic variants behind the sIA disease might sensitize the sIA patients to neurovascular and cardiovascular events in later life as well. It is not known, so far, whether the sIA disease is restricted to the forks of intracranial extracerebral arteries only.

5.5 CONCLUSIONS

The impact of both sporadic and familial aSAH and their sequelae in the central nervous and cardiovascular system may cause long-term morbidity and mortality. The complex sIA disease may predispose to other vascular events in later life. The causes of the long term excess mortality are heterogeneous, and more detailed analyses are required.

6 Increased relative risk of lung cancer in 2 904 patients with secular intracranial aneurysm disease in Eastern Finland³

Abstract. To analyse long-term incidence of cancer after the first diagnosis of saccular intracranial aneurysm (sIA) disease. Neurosurgery of Kuopio University Hospital (KUH) solely serves a defined Eastern Finnish population. Kuopio sIA Database contains 2904 consecutive sIA cases from 1980 to 2007, 618 unruptured (170 familial and 448 sporadic) and 2286 ruptured (aSAH) cases (308 familial and 1978 sporadic). They were followed for cancer incidence (Finnish Cancer Registry) until death (n=1176) or December 31, 2008, a total of 26,844 person-years. Their standardised incidence ratios (SIRs) of different cancers were calculated as against corresponding (year of follow-up, gender, age) KUH population. Lung cancer after the first sIA diagnosis occurred in 30 of the 1340 male patients (SIR 2.0; 95% confidence interval [CI] 1.4 - 2.9), and in 10 of the 1564 female patients (SIR 2.6; 95% CI 1.2 - 4.7). Poisson regression analysis identified male gender and increasing diameter of the ruptured sIA as independent risk factors for the lung cancer, while the familial sIA disease, age at aSAH, site of ruptured sIA, or the presence of associated unruptured sIAs had no significant effect. Carriers of sIA disease have an increased risk of developing lung cancer. Their long-term smoking habits after the sIA diagnosis should be elucidated for preventive purposes

³ Adapted with permission of the Neurosurgery from: Huttunen T, von und zu Fraunberg M, Koivisto T, et al. Long-term excess mortality of 244 familial and 1502 sporadic one-year survivors of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage compared with a matched Eastern Finnish catchment population. Neurosurgery. 2011;68(1):20-27. ©2010 Neurosurgery. All rights reserved.

6.1 INTRODUCTION

Some 2% of population develops during life saccular intracranial aneurysms (sIAs) at the branching sites of major intracranial extracerebral arteries (Ronkainen et al., 1998). Rupture of the sIA wall causes almost all cases of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) (van Gijn et al., 2007), but most sIAs do not rupture as the annual incidence of SAH is about 6 per 100,000 (Feigin et al., 2009). Acute aSAH is a critical condition, a devastating form of stroke that affects working age population (van Gijn et al., 2007; Bederson et al., 2009; Levine, 2009). The sIA disease is a complex trait. Known risk factors include age, female sex, hypertension, smoking, and excess drinking (Feigin et al., 2005), and at least 10% of aSAH patients have a family history (Ronkainen et al., 1997; Huttunen et al., 2010).

A large multinational genomewide association study of intracranial aneurysm identified five susceptibility loci, among them 9p21.3 (Helgadottir et al., 2008) close to the CDKN2A and CDKN2B genes that are involved in many types of cancer (Kamb et al., 1994). Furthermore, smoking is a common risk factor for both the sIA disease and cancers of the lung, upper aero-digestive tract (oral cavity, nasal cavity and sinuses, pharynx, larynx, oesophagus), pancreas, stomach, liver, lower urinary tract (renal pelvis and bladder), kidney and uterine cervix (Dreyer et al., 1997) Population-based studies of the long-term outcome of sIA patients are few (Lehecka et al., 2007; Molyneux et al., 2009; Olafsson et al., 1997; Wermer et al., 2009; Huttunen et al., 2011; Nieuwkamp et al., 2011), and it has not been established whether the sporadic or familial sIA disease carriers are predisposed also to other phenotypes, including cancer (Nieuwkamp et al., 2011; Huttunen et al., 2011; Ronkainen et al., 2008).

Neurosurgery of Kuopio University Hospital (KUH) serves solely an Eastern Finnish catchment population, and Kuopio sIA Database (www.uef.fi/crc/ns) contains all sIA patients admitted since 1980 (Huttunen et al., 2011; Huttunen et al., 2010). In the present study, we analyse the long-term incidence of cancer in 2904 sIA patients from 1980 to 2007 as compared to the KUH catchment population.

6.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

6.2.1 Catchment population of Kuopio University Hospital (KUH)

During the study period from 1980 to 2007, Neurosurgery of KUH solely provided full-time acute and elective neurosurgical services for the KUH catchment population in Eastern Finland (Huttunen et al., 2010; Huttunen et al., 2011). The KUH area contains four central hospitals with neurological units and catchment areas of their own. From 1980 to 2007, the geographic area remained the same, the population decreased from 864,000 to 851,000, and the median age increased from 31 to 42 years in males and from 34 to 45 years in females, but the proportion of males remained at 49%.

All cases of SAH diagnosed by spinal tap or CT at the KUH catchment area were acutely admitted to KUH for angiography and treatment if not moribund or very aged. Cases with unruptured IA(s) detected either as occult findings in neuroimaging for other symptoms, or by screening sIA family members, have also had a neurosurgical consultation for elective occlusion. The findings were confirmed with 4-vessel catheter angiography, MRA or CTA. In both instances, exact numbers of rejection are not available. KUH Neurosurgery maintains a database on all cases of unruptured and ruptured intracranial aneurysms admitted to the KUH since 1980 (Huttunen et al., 2011; Huttunen et al., 2010). The database has been prospective since 1990, and earlier cases have been entered from the hospital records. The database is run by a dedicated full-time nurse, who interviews all new cases, and collects and codes into variables detailed information, including family history. The criteria for an sIA family is at least two affected first-degree relatives (Huttunen et al., 2010). Clinical data from the hospital periods and follow-up visits are entered. The use of prescribed medicines since 1994, the diagnoses of other diseases, including cancer, and the causes of death have been entered from the national registries. The phenotype, genetics, and outcome of Eastern Finnish sIA disease has been analysed in many local and collaborative studies (Ronkainen et al., 1998; Ronkainen et al., 1999; Helgadottir et al., 2008; Lehecka et al., 2007; Bilguvar et al., 2008; Fogelholm et al., 1993; Hernesniemi et al., 1993; van der Voet et al., 2004).

6.2.3 Study population

In overall, 308 familial and 1978 sporadic patients with a ruptured sIA and 170 familial and 448 sporadic patients with unruptured sIA(s) fulfilled the following inclusion criteria:

1. Citizen of Finland and resident of the KUH catchment area at the time of diagnosis of the sIA disease between January 1, 1980 and December 31, 2007.

2. Admission alive to the KUH and verification of sIA by angiography or at autopsy.

6.2.4 Follow up for cancer incidence

The information of the cancer diagnoses was obtained from the Finnish Cancer Registry. The patients were followed up for the cancer diagnoses from the date of first diagnosis of sIA disease between 1980 and 2007 until death (n=1176) or December 31, 2008. No patient was lost from the follow up.

6.2.5 Statistical analysis

The number of observed cancer cases and person-years at risk were calculated by gender, 5-year age groups, three calendar periods (1980-1989, 1990-1999 and 2000-2007), and time since the diagnosis of sIA disease (<1, 1-9.9, \geq 10 years). The expected number of cases for all cancers combined and for site specific cancers was calculated by multiplying the number of person-years in each stratum by the corresponding

cancer incidence rate in KUH catchment area. To calculate the standardised incidence ratio (SIR), the observed number of cases was divided by the expected number. The 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were based on the assumption that the number of observed cases followed a Poisson distribution.

Logistic regression was used to analyse which of the variables (gender, familial or sporadic disease, age at aSAH, diameter and site of ruptured sIA, multiple sIAs) independently associated to the occurrence of lung cancer after aSAH.

6.2.6 Ethical aspects

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Kuopio University Hospital. The cases of cancer and causes of death were obtained with the permission from the Statistics Finland and the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health of Finland.

6.3 RESULTS

6.3.1 Observed and expected cases of cancer

The entire study population was 2904 consecutive sIA patients first diagnosed between 1980 and 2007, inclusive (Table 6.1). There were 2286 aSAH cases, 308 (13.5%) familial and 1978 (86.5%) sporadic ones. There were 618 unruptured sIA cases, 170 (27.5%) familial and 448 (72.5%) sporadic ones. The total follow-up time was 26844 person-years. After the first diagnosis of sIA disease, 218 cases of cancer were detected as against 183 expected ones (SIR 1.19; 95% CI 1.04-1.35; p=0.05). Table 6.2 presents the observed and expected cases of cancer according to the rupture status and gender.

6.3.2 Familial sIA disease and cancer

There were 39 cancers in the 477 familial patients (SIR 1.5; 95% CI 1.0-2.0) and 179 in the 2426 sporadic patients (SIR 1.1; 95% CI 1.0-1.3), with no significant difference in the overall cancer incidence. In the familial sIA cohort, no significant overrepresentations were found in any cancer site or type.

6.3.3 Lung cancer

Lung cancer was diagnosed in five of the 273 males with unruptured sIA(s) (SIR 1.8; 95% 0.6-4.2) and in 25 of the 1066 males with a ruptured sIA (SIR 2.4; 95% 1.3-3.0) (Table 6.2). Lung cancer was diagnosed in two of the 344 females with unruptured sIA(s) (SIR 2.6; 95% 0.3-9.5) and in 8 of the 1.220 females with a ruptured sIA (SIR 2.5; 95% 1.1-5.0) (Table 6.2). In the 2.285 aSAH patients, multivariate logistic regression analysis showed that male gender and increasing diameter of the ruptured sIA were independently associated to the lung cancer. Instead, the familial or sporadic sIA disease, age at aSAH, site of ruptured sIA, or presence of associated unruptured sIAs were not significant (Table 6.3).

	Patients	Median age at sIA diagnosis	Follow up time
	n	years	person years
sIA patients	2904	52 (43-62)	26844
Familial	478 (16%)	48 (39-56)	4733
Ruptured sIA disease	308	47 (38-57)	3219
Females	150	50 (40-61)	1619
Males	158	45 (37-53)	1600
Unruptured sIA disease	170	49 (42-55)	1514
Females	97	49 (43-56)	881
Males	73	48 (40-55)	633
Sporadic	2426 (84%)	53 (43-63)	22111
Ruptured sIA disease	1978	52 (43-62)	18915
Females	1070	55 (45-65)	9818
Males	908	49 (40-58)	9097
Unruptured sIA disease	448	57 (44-66)	3196
Females	247	59 (49-69)	1718
Males	201	54 (48-63)	1478

Table 6.1. Characteristics of 2904 patients with saccular intracranial aneurysm (sIA) disease first diagnosed between 1980 and 2007 in Eastern Finland.

sIA, saccular intracranial aneurysm; 25% and 75% percentiles for age distributions

		Patients w	ith ruptured	l sIA dise	ase	Patients wi	th unrupture	d sIA dise	ase
Primary site	ICD-10	0 Observed	Expected	SIR	95% CI	Observed	Expected	SIR	95% CI
All sites	M C00-96	93	68.3	1.36	1.1 - 1.66 * *	15	16.82	0.89	0.50-1.47
	ш	80	79.5	1.01	0.8-1.25	30	18.71	1.60	1.08-2.28*
Mouth, pharynx									
Lip	M C00	1	0.77	1.30	0.03-7.22		0.15	0.00	0.00-24.6
	ш		0.32	0.00	0.00-11.4		0.08	0.00	0.00-44.5
Tongue	M C01-02		0.32	0.00	0.00-11.7		0.07	0.00	0.00-50.5
	ш	2	0.24	8.33	1.01 - 30.1 *		0.06	0.00	0.00-62.3
Mouth, other	M C03-06		0.31	0.00	0.00-12.1		0.07	0.00	0.00-51.4
	ш	2	0.28	7.03	0.85-25.4		0.06	0.00	0.00-57.1
Pharynx	M C09-14	2	0.32	6.32	0.77-22.8		0.07	0.00	0.00-49.6
	ш		0.13	0.00	0.00-27.4		0.03	0.00	0.00-111
Digestive organs									
Oesophagus	M C15	2	0.88	2.26	0.27-8.17		0.21	0.00	0.00-17.7
	ш		0.62	00.00	0.00-5.92		0.13	0.00	0.00-28.7
Stomach	M C16	4	2.95	1.36	0.37-3.47	1	0.67	1.50	0.04-8.35
	ш	1	2.82	0.35	0.01-1.97	2	0.61	3.29	0.40-11.9
Colon	M C18	2	3.63	0.55	0.07-1.98		0.92	0.00	0.00-4.01
	ш	2	5.19	0.39	0.05 - 1.39	с	1.21	2.47	0.51-7.23
Rectum, rectosigmoid, anus	M C19-21	4	2.88	1.39	0.38-3.55	÷	0.71	1.41	0.04-7.85
	ш	ε	2.89	1.04	0.21-3.03	2	0.67	2.99	0.36-10.8
Liver	M C22	ъ	1.08	4.65	1.51-		0.28	0.00	0.00-13.0
					10.8^{**}				
	ш		0.84	00.00	0.00-4.41		0.19	0.00	0.00-19.1
Gallbladder, bile ducts	M C23-24	2	0.52	3.88	0.47-14.0		0.13	00.0	0.00-29.0
	ш	1	1.39	0.72	0.02-3.99		0.30	0.00	0.00-12.3
Pancreas	M C25	7	2.46	2.84	$1.14 - 5.86^*$		0.60	1.68	0.04-9.35
	ш	2	3.09	0.65	0.08-2.33		0.71	0.00	0.00-5.20
Respiratory organs									
Larynx, epiglottis	M C32	2	0.76	2.63	0.32-9.50		0.16	0.00	0.00-22.9
	ш		0.08	00.00	0.00-44.6		0.02	0.00	0.00-168
Lung, trachea	M C33-34	25	12.3	2.04	1.32-	5	2.75	1.82	0.59-4.23
					3.01**				
	ш	8	3.15	2.54	1.10-5.0*	2	0.76	2.62	0.32-9.46

Table 6.2. Site-specific standardised incidence ratios (SIRs) and their 95% confidence intervals (CIs) after the diagnosis of saccular

Skin Melanoma	M C43		2.03	0.49	0.01-2.74	1	0.47	2.12	0.05-11.8
		T	CU.2	0.43	4/.2-TU.U		0.40	0.00	0/1-00.0
Soft tissues	M 748-49		0 48		0 00-7 70		0 11	000	0 00-32 5
	с С		0.51	0.00	0.00-7.20		0.12	0.00	0.00-31.0
Lymphoid and haematopoietic									
TISSUE									
Hodgkin lymphoma	M C81		0.31	0.00	0.00-11.8		0.06	0.00	0.00-64.1
Non-Hodakin lymphoma	M CR7-RE CG6	4	12.0	0.00	0.38-3 53		10.0		0.00-5.38
	F 00,00,000	+	3.37	0.30	0.01-1.65	1	0.79	1.26	0.03-7.02
Multiple myeloma	M C90		0.83	0.00	0.00-4.41		0.20	0.00	0.00-18.2
	ш		1.09	0.00	0.00-3.37	н	0.24	4.13	0.10-23.0
Leukaemia	M C91-95	2	1.48	1.35	0.16-4.87		0.34	0.00	0.00-11.0
	ц	1	1.53	0.65	0.02-3.64		0.34	0.00	0.00-10.9
Brain, central nervous system									
	M C70-72	m	1.99	1.51	0.31-4.40	1	0.43	2.35	0.06-13.1
	Ŧ	2	3.16	0.63	0.08-2.28	4	0.71	5.60	1.52-14.3*
Urinary organs									
Kidney	M C64-65	9	2.75	2.18	0.80-4.74		0.65	0.00	0.00-5.67
	ш	9	2.71	2.21	0.81-4.81	1	0.63	1.58	0.04-8.78
Bladder, ureter, urethra	M C66-68	2	3.78	0.53	0.06-1.91		0.92	0.00	0.00-4.02
	ш	м	1.48	2.03	0.42-5.93	1	0.33	3.01	0.08-16.8
Prostate	C61	14	16.9	0.83	0.45-1.38	б	4.79	0.63	0.13-1.83
Female breast	C50	27	22.8	1.18	0.78-1.72	7	5.70	1.23	0.49-2.52
Female reproductive organs									
Cervix uteri	C53	2	0.97	2.07	0.25-7.47		0.20	0.00	0.00-18.3
Corpus uteri	C54	9	5.54	1.08	0.40-2.35	2	1.30	1.54	0.19-5.57
Ovary	C56	2	3.64	0.55	0.07-1.98		0.83	0.00	0.00-4.43
Levels of significance: * p<0.0)5; ** p<0.01								

	Lung cancer / total	OR	95% CI	P-value
sIA patients	35 / 2285			
Females	9 / 1220	1		
Males	26 / 1065	3.8	1.7-8.4	0.001
Sporadic	31 / 1978	1		
Familial	4 / 307	0.9	0.3-2.7	0.87
Age at aSAH (years)				
<u><</u> 45	5 / 777	1		
46 - 59	16 / 855	1.5	0.5-4.7	0.54
<u>></u> 60	14 / 653	0.9	0.2-4.1	0.87
Diameter of ruptured sIA (mm)				
<u><</u> 7	4 / 390	1		
8 - 14	12 / 427	2.9	1.02-7.9	0.05
<u>></u> 15	9 / 161	4.4	1.4-13	0.01
Site of ruptured sIA (mm)				
AcoA	5 / 684	1		
Mbif	15 / 703	2.85	1.02-7.93	0.05
Other	15 / 898	4.35	1.42-13.34	0.01
Multiple sIAs				
Yes	18 / 807	1		
No	8 / 268	1.3	0.6-2.7	0.43

Table 6.3. Characteristics of aSAH patients with lung cancer, with odds ratios (ORs) from logistic regression analysis.

All values adjusted for year of birth

6.3.4 Other smoking related cancers

Pancreatic cancer (SIR 2.8; 95% CI 1.1-5.9) and liver cancer (SIR 4.6; 95% CI 1.5-10.8) were significantly overrepresented in the male patients with the ruptured sIA disease (Table 6.2). Instead, other smoking-related cancers (tongue, mouth, pharynx, larynx, oesophagus, stomach, bladder and kidney) were not.

6.3.5 Other cancers

There were four central nervous system tumours as against one expected in the female patients with unruptured sIA(s) (SIR 5.6; 95% CI 1.5-14.3) (Table 6.2), all of them meningiomas. No other sites or types of cancers were overrepresented in the study cohort.

6.4 DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the first population based study on the relative incidence of cancers in the carriers of saccular intracranial aneurysm (sIA) disease. PubMed lists only case reports on the coexistence of CNS tumours and sIA disease. The study cohort consisted of 2904 sIA patients admitted alive between 1980 and 2007 to the Kuopio University Hospital (KUH) from its geographically defined Eastern Finnish catchment population (Huttunen et al., 2011). Our new findings were: lung cancer was significantly overrepresented in the aSAH patients; the ruptured sIA were larger in the aSAH patients who developed lung cancer; the familial sIA disease did not increase the risk of any type of cancer.

Known risk factors for the sIA disease include age, gender, hypertension, smoking, excess alcohol consumption, and familial background (Feigin et al., 2005). Smoking

is a common avoidable risk factor for both the sIA disease (Feigin, et al. 2005) and lung cancer (Dreyer et al., 1997). In a Finnish single center series of 278 consecutive aneurysmal SAH patients and 314 hospitalized controls, published in 1993, the proportion of non-smokers were 12% vs. 41% in males and 47% vs. 61% in females (Juvela et al., 1993). Over 90% of male lung cancer patients are smokers (Tyczynski et al., 2003). In the second genome-wide SNP association study with extended cohorts from Europe and Japan, 5,891 cases and 14,181 controls, five loci were identified: RBBP8 on 18q11.2; STARD13-KL on 13q13.1; a gene-rich region on 10q24.32; SOX17 on 8q11.23-q12.1; and CDKN2A-CDKN2B on 9p21.3 (Yasuno et al., 2010). However, none of these loci have emerged in the GWAS studies of lung cancer (www.genome.gov/gwastudies).

A larger diameter of the ruptured sIA independently associated to the lung cancer. In a Finnish cohort of 87 patients with 111 unruptured sIAs, smoking was an independent risk factor for further aneurysm growth in a mean follow-up time of 18.9 years (Juvela et al., 2001). In a Japanese cohort of 285 aSAH patients, smoking was independently associated with aneurysms \geq 5mm in diameter (Inagawa, 2010). In a prospective cohort of 298 aSAH patients, smoking at any time independently associated with large (\geq 13 mm) aneurysms (Qureshi et al., 2000). The sIA pouches are under hemodynamic stress and shearing forces in the turbulent blood flow at the intracranial artery forks, but many additional factors may predispose the sIA pouches to dilation and/or rupture. Smoking alters the function of vascular endothelium, initiates the adhesion cascade and stimulates the vascular inflammatory events leading to atherosclerosis and hypertension (Balakumar and Kaur, 2009). The exact mechanisms of smoking on the sIA wall are not known, but indirect evidence suggest inflammation and degradation of connective tissue.

No overrepresentations were found by the cancer type or site in the familial patients. In the Kuopio sIA Database (www.uef.fi/ns), 14% of the aSAH patients belonged to an sIA family (Huttunen et al., 2010). The familial sIA disease has an undefined genomic background, and there is no evidence on manifestations in other tissues than the forks of the intracranial arteries. In Finnish familial sIA patients, genomewide linkage analysis showed linkage to 19q13 (van der Voet et al., 2004) and Xp22 (Olson et al., 2002), both replicated in Japan (Yamada et al., 2004) as well as to kallikrein gene cluster (Weinsheimer et al., 2007). Their significance, if any, in the sIA formation or rupture remains unresolved. In a cohort of 79,644 complete twin pairs of Danish, Finnish, and Swedish origin with 6.01 million person-years of follow up, there only 6 concordant twin pairs in a total of 504 SAH cases, suggesting at most a modest role for genetic factors in SAH (Korja et al., 2010).
The strength of this study derives from the accurate population and cancer statistics (Teppo et al., 1994) of the stable Finnish population. The weakness of the study is that information about the smoking status at the time of aSAH patients was not available. In addition, the present study is based on the rather homogeneous Eastern Finnish population (Peltonen et al., 1999), and our results require replication in unselected multi-ethnic populations.

6.5 CONCLUSIONS

Smoking is a modiable risk factor that is important in the prevention of aSAH as well as for further understanding of the pathogenesis of sIA formation and sIA wall rupture. The long-term smoking habits of the carriers of unruptured sIAs as well as survivors of aSAH after the first diagnosis should be elucidated. Their permanent abstinence from smoking should be supported and monitored.

7 Summary and future perspectives

Saccular intracranial aneurysms (sIAs) form during life at the branching sites of intracranial extracerebral arteries in the cerebrospinal fluid space. Rupture of the sIA wall is the most frequent cause of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH), a devastating form of stroke that affects working aged population.

Kuopio Neurosurgery sIA Database (www.uef.fi/ns) contains all cases of aSAH or unruptured sIAs admitted to the Kuopio University Hospital (KUH) since 1980 from the KUH catchment area in Eastern Finland (Figure 1.1). From 1980 to 2007, the geographic area remained the same, the population decreased from 863,726 to 851,066, the median age increased from 31 to 42 years in males and from 34 to 45 years in females, and the proportion of males remained at 49%.

In the present study, we analysed (I) the phenotype, (II) long-term excess mortality, and (III) risk of cancer in 2904 consecutive sIA cases from 1980 to 2007, 618 unruptured (170 familial) and 2286 ruptured (aSAH) cases (308 familial).

(I) From 1980 to 2007, familial and sporadic sIA patients aged along the catchment population, important to notice in large study cohorts with long recruitment periods. In familial sIA patients, the phenotype at first diagnosis was modestly different from that of sporadic patients. Since the familial background is a known risk factor for the sIA disease, slight differences in the age at aSAH, gender distribution, and size distribution of sIAs were unexpected. The reason most probably is the liberal definition of familial sIA disease in this study cohort: two or more first degree relatives carrying sIA disease. Consequently, further genealogical and genomic studies of the present 300 sIA families in the Kuopio sIA Database are required.

In the present study, 308 aSAH patients were familial (13%) of the 2286 aSAH patients, when the criteria of sIA family was one first degree relative carrying sIA disease in addition to the patient. This definition of an sIA family is rather liberal. On the other hand, geneological analysis of sIA families in the Kuopio sIA Database has revealed megapedigrees with ancestry in the 16th century, with 59 sIA patients in the largest one, so far. In addition, there were nine sIA families with both parents carrying the sIA disease, and in one of them all six children developed the sIA disease (unpublished data). These findings demonstrate that there are some forms of genetic transmission of the sIA disease, so far unknown. On the other hand, the largest twin study of aSAH by Dr. Miikka Korja showed that the classic inheritance is rather low: only five concordant aSAH cases among 152 monozygotic twin pairs with aSAH. This study has obviously missed cases of unruptured sIA carriers among the 147 disconcordant monozygotic pairs. Anyhow, the data suggests that classic genetic factors such as mutations of genes do not play an important role in the genesis on the sIA disease. In complex diseases, the concordance between monozygotic twins is far

less than 100%, suggesting that epigenomic changes such as methylation profiles of the DNA may play a significant role. This raises the question how to define the sporadic form and the familial form of a complex disease, or how to differentiate inherited and environmental risk factors. Genomic variants and epigenomic profiles may predispose to acquired risk factors of the sIA disease, including desire for smoking or alcohol, or individual sensitivity for their adverse effects. To conclude, epigenome brings huge variability and its role in human disease is just starting to unravel.

We support the Finnish guidelines (Lääkärin käsikirja, 2010) that members of sIA families should be screened by non-invasive angiography from the age of 30 years and advised for non-smoking, screening of blood pressure, and avoidance of heavy alcohol use. They should also be informed that no genetic predisposition tests are available, so far.

Mechanisms by which risk factors affect the formation of sIA pouch and the rupture of sIA wall have to be elucidated for novel methods to identify sIA carriers and to occlude sIA pouches. The MCA bifurcation and the ACoA were almost equal sites for the ruptured sIAs, but the MCA bifurcation was clearly dominant among the unruptured ones. This suggests different etiologies for the sIA formation and the sIA wall rupture. The MCA bifurcation was most prone to develop unruptured sIAs, suggesting that MCA branching during embryonic period might be involved. The phenotypic tissue of the sIA disease is very restricted, the medial gap under hemodynamic stress at the branching sites of intracranial extracerebral arteries. The medial gap is a seal that forms between the medial bases of the two daughter branches that start from the mother branch during the embryonal branching morphogenesis. The embryonal formation of the intracranial extracerebral artery system and the Circle of Willis has been amazingly poorly described in the medical literature on embryology.

(II) The long term excess mortality of 244 familial and 1,502 sporadic one-year aSAH survivors was analysed as compared to the matched KUH catchment population. There was 12% excess mortality at 15 years. The sIA disease is a complex trait, affected by acquired risk factors and variants of the genome which may sensitize also to cardiovascular events in later life. Sequelae of aSAH may cause long-term mortality, e.g., by predisposing to epilepsy, depression, dementia, shunt complications, hypothalamic and hypophyseal disorders, or cerebrovascular events. The causes of the long term excess mortality are heterogeneous, and more detailed analyses are required. Consequently, one important line of further reasearch is to study the risks of various concomitant diseases, including hypertension and diabetes type II that affect the arterial wall, in the familial and sporadic sIA patients in the Kuopio sIA Database.

Furthermore, the long-term psychosocial outcome has not been comprehensively studied in Finland or elsewhere of the survivors of aSAH. These psychosocial outcome measures include anxiety, fatigue, depression, sleep disturbances, cognitive disturbances, post traumatic distress syndrome, divorce, alcoholism or substance abuse, unemployment, reduced income level, and suicide. For instance, fatigue in a systemic review of literature occurred in 31 to 90%, and other psychosocial problems could not explain all cases of fatigue. Fatigue reduces quality of life and life satisfaction in patients after SAH (Kutlubaev, 2012). On the other hand, the Utrecht group, led by Professor Gabriel Rinkel, has also shown that between 5 and 12.5 years after aSAH, the improvement in modified Ranking Scale had decreased but patients reported overall a better Quality of Life (Greebe, 2010). This suggests that aSAH survivors continue to adapt and improve while coping with restrictions in functioning. We propose that units providing neurocare for aSAH patients would also organise multidisciplinary neuropoliclinics for long-term follow up of the patients.

(III) The standardised incidence ratios (SIRs) of cancers after first diagnosis of sIA disease were calculated as against the matched KUH population. Lung cancer developed significantly more often in the aSAH patients, SIR 2.4 for males and 2.5 for females. Unfortunately, this retrospective study could not use smoking information because that not been reliably registered at the first diagnosis and follow up of the sIA patients. However, increased occurrence of lung cancer suggests that the patients continued smoking even after the aSAH diagnosis. In a Finnish single center series of 278 consecutive aneurysmal SAH patients and 314 hospitalized controls, published in 1993, the proportion on admission of non-smokers were 12% vs. 41% in males and 47% vs. 61% in females (Juvela et al., 1993). The most effective way to prevent sIA formation and/or rupture is to reduce modifiable risk factors, of which smoking and hypertension are the two most important ones. Long-term smoking habits of sIA disease carriers should be elucidated, and their abstinence from smoking should be supported and monitored. Health counseling to reduce known risk factors of sIA disease would be one form of the activities of proposed aSAH policlinics.

These results will primarily serve the Eastern Finnish population and its sIA patients, in terms of future preventation, earlier diagnosis, optimisation of therapeutic measures, screening and treatment of concomitant diseases, and design of long-term follow up. Naturally, many more aspects of the Eastern Finnish sIA disease have to be disclosed for a complete clinical picture, modifying factors, and outcome of the disease. These results cannot be wholly transferred to other and more heterogeneous populations in developed countries such as Scandinavia or the rest of Europe. This is not necessarily a handicap, because this data will primarily serve the population from which it was extracted.



8 Conclusions

8.1 PHENOTYPE OF SIA DISEASE ON ADMISSION

A) From 1980 to 2007 the median age of the KUH catchment population increased from 33 years to 44 years. Familial and sporadic sIA patients aged with the catchment population which should be noted when large cohorts with long recruitment time are compared.

B) The phenotype at first diagnosis was only modestly different in the familial variant of Eastern Finnish sIA disease.

C) The MCA bifurcation is more prone to develop unruptured sIAs where as the anterior communicating artery ruptures most frequently. We hypothesise that branching morphogenesis of the MCA bifurcation during embryonic period would be involved.

D) Differences between the distribution of ruptured and unruptured sIA sites suggest different etiologies for sIA formation and rupture.

E) No correlation between diameter at rupture and time of exposure to risk factors suggest that the diameter at rupture is more dependent on hemodynamic stress and site than other risk factors.

8.2 LONG-TERM OUTCOME AFTER ASAH

The impact of both sporadic and familial aSAH and their sequelae in the central nervous and cardiovascular system may cause long-term morbidity and mortality. The complex sIA disease may predispose to other vascular events in later life. The causes of the long term excess mortality are heterogeneous, and more detailed analyses are required.

8.3 IMPACT OF RISK FACTORS ON LONG-TERM OUTCOME AFTER ASAH

Smoking is a modifiable risk factor that is important in the prevention of aSAH as well as for further understanding of the pathogenesis of sIA formation and sIA wall rupture. The long-term smoking habits of the carriers of unruptured sIAs as well as survivors of aSAH after the first diagnosis should be elucidated. Their permanent abstinence from smoking should be supported and monitored.



9 References

Al-Khindi T, Macdonald RL, Schweizer TA. Cognitive and functional outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 2010 Aug;41(8):e519-36.

Alnaes MS, Isaksen J, Mardal KA, Romner B, Morgan MK, Ingebrigtsen T. Computation of hemodynamics in the circle of Willis. Stroke 2007 Sep;38(9):2500-2505.

Balakumar P, Kaur J. Is nicotine a key player or spectator in the induction and progression of cardiovascular disorders? Pharmacol Res 2009 Nov;60(5):361-368.

Bederson JB, Connolly ES, Jr, Batjer HH, Dacey RG, Dion JE, Diringer MN, et al. Guidelines for the management of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a statement for healthcare professionals from a special writing group of the Stroke Council, American Heart Association. Stroke 2009 Mar;40(3):994-1025.

Bell JT, Saffery R. The value of twins in epigenetic epidemiology. Int. J. Epidemil. 2012 Feb; 41 (1): 140-150.

Bilguvar K, Yasuno K, Niemela M, Ruigrok YM, von Und Zu Fraunberg M, van Duijn CM, et al. Susceptibility loci for intracranial aneurysm in European and Japanese populations. Nat Genet 2008 Dec;40(12):1472-1477.

Bor AS, Rinkel GJ, Adami J, Koffijberg H, Ekbom A, Buskens E, et al. Risk of subarachnoid haemorrhage according to number of affected relatives: a population based case-control study. Brain 2008 Oct;131(Pt 10):2662-2665.

Broderick JP, Viscoli CM, Brott T, Kernan WN, Brass LM, Feldmann E, et al. Major risk factors for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage in the young are modifiable. Stroke 2003 Jun;34(6):1375-1381.

Bromberg JEC, Rinkel GJE, Algra A, Greebe P, van Duyn CM, Hasan D, ten Berg HWM, Wijdicks EFM, van Gijn J. Subarachnoid haemorrhage in first and second degree relatives of patients with subarachnoid haemorrhage. BMJ. 1995;311:288–289

Canham PB, Finlay HM. Morphometry of medial gaps of human brain artery branches. Stroke 2004 May;35(5):1153-1157.

Carter BS, Sheth S, Chang E, Sethl M, Ogilvy CS. Epidemiology of the size distribution of intracranial bifurcation aneurysms: smaller size of distal aneurysms and increasing size of unruptured aneurysms with age. Neurosurgery 2006 Feb;58(2):217-23; discussion 217-23.

Coghlan LA, Hindman BJ, Bayman EO, Banki NM, Gelb AW, Todd MM, et al. Independent associations between electrocardiographic abnormalities and outcomes in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: findings from the intraoperative hypothermia aneurysm surgery trial. Stroke 2009 Feb;40(2):412-418. Cutler SJ, Ederer F. Maximum utilization of the life table method in analysing survival. J Chronic Dis 1958 Dec;8(6):699-712.

de Rooij NK, Linn FH, van der Plas JA, Algra A, Rinkel GJ. Incidence of subarachnoid haemorrhage: a systematic review with emphasis on region, age, gender and time trends. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2007 Dec;78(12):1365-1372.

Dickman PW, Sloggett A, Hills M, Hakulinen T. Regression models for relative survival. Stat Med 2004 Jan 15;23(1):51-64.

Diringer MN, Bleck TP, Claude Hemphill J,3rd, Menon D, Shutter L, Vespa P, et al. Critical care management of patients following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: recommendations from the Neurocritical Care Society's Multidisciplinary Consensus Conference. Neurocrit Care 2011 Sep;15(2):211-240.

Dreyer L, Winther JF, Pukkala E, Andersen A. Avoidable cancers in the Nordic countries. Tobacco smoking. APMIS Suppl 1997;76:9-47.

Ederer F, Axtell LM, Cutler SJ. The relative survival rate: a statistical methodology. Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 1961 Sep;6:101-121.

Esteve J, Benhamou E, Croasdale M, Raymond L. Relative survival and the estimation of net survival: elements for further discussion. Stat Med 1990 May;9(5):529-538.

Feigin VL, Anderson CS, Rodgers A, Bennett DA. Subarachnoid haemorrhage occurrence exhibits a temporal pattern - evidence from meta-analysis. Eur J Neurol 2002 Sep;9(5):511-516.

Feigin VL, Lawes CM, Bennett DA, Barker-Collo SL, Parag V. Worldwide stroke incidence and early case fatality reported in 56 population-based studies: a systematic review. Lancet Neurol 2009 Apr;8(4):355-369.

Feigin VL, Rinkel GJ, Lawes CM, Algra A, Bennett DA, van Gijn J, et al. Risk factors for subarachnoid hemorrhage: an updated systematic review of epidemiological studies. Stroke 2005 Dec;36(12):2773-2780.

Fogelholm R, Hernesniemi J, Vapalahti M. Impact of early surgery on outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. A population-based study. Stroke 1993 Nov;24(11):1649-1654.

Frontera JA, Fernandez A, Schmidt JM, Claassen J, Wartenberg KE, Badjatia N, et al. Impact of nosocomial infectious complications after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 2008 Jan;62(1):80-7; discussion 87.

Frosen J, Piippo A, Paetau A, Kangasniemi M, Niemela M, Hernesniemi J, et al. Growth factor receptor expression and remodeling of saccular cerebral artery aneurysm walls: implications for biological therapy preventing rupture. Neurosurgery 2006 Mar;58(3):534-41; discussion 534-41.

Frosen J, Piippo A, Paetau A, Kangasniemi M, Niemela M, Hernesniemi J, et al. Remodeling of saccular cerebral artery aneurysm wall is associated with rupture: histological analysis of 24 unruptured and 42 ruptured cases. Stroke 2004 Oct;35(10):2287-2293.

Frosen J, Tulamo R, Paetau A, Laaksamo E, Korja M, Laakso A, et al. Saccular intracranial aneurysm: pathology and mechanisms. Acta Neuropathol 2012 Jan 17.

Gaál E, Salo P., Kristiansson K., Rehnström K., Kettunen J., Sarin A., et al. Intracranial Aneurysm risk locus 5q23·2 is associated with elevated systolic blood pressure: genetic evidence for pathomechanism of a complex disease locus by metaanalysis.. In press 2012.

Gaist D, Væth M, Tsiropoulos I, Christensen K, Corder E, Olsen J, Sørensen HT. Risk of subarachnoid haemorrhage in first degree relatives of patients with subarachnoid haemorrhage: follow up study based on national registries in Denmark. BMJ. 2000;320:141–145.

Greebe P, Rinkel GJ, Hop JW, Visser-Meily JM, Algra A. Functional outcome and quality of life 5 and 12.5 years after aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. J Neurol 2010 Dec;257(12):2059-2064.

Guresir E, Beck J, Vatter H, Setzer M, Gerlach R, Seifert V, et al. Subarachnoid hemorrhage and intracerebral hematoma: incidence, prognostic factors, and outcome. Neurosurgery 2008 Dec;63(6):1088-93; discussion 1093-4.

Hakulinen T. Cancer survival corrected for heterogeneity in patient withdrawal. Biometrics 1982 Dec;38(4):933-942.

Hardy J, Singleton A. Genomewide association studies and human disease. N Engl J Med 2009 Apr 23;360(17):1759-1768.

Hart Y, Sneade M, Birks J, Rischmiller J, Kerr R, Molyneux A. Epilepsy after subarachnoid hemorrhage: the frequency of seizures after clip occlusion or coil embolisation of a ruptured cerebral aneurysm: results from the International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial. J Neurosurg 2011 Dec;115(6):1159-1168.

Hedlund M, Zetterling M, Ronne-Engstrom E, Carlsson M, Ekselius L. Depression and post-traumatic stress disorder after aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage in relation to lifetime psychiatric morbidity. Br J Neurosurg 2011 Dec;25(6):693-700.

Helgadottir A, Thorleifsson G, Magnusson KP, Gretarsdottir S, Steinthorsdottir V, Manolescu A, et al. The same sequence variant on 9p21 associates with myocardial infarction, abdominal aortic aneurysm and intracranial aneurysm. Nat Genet 2008 Feb;40(2):217-224.

Hernesniemi J, Vapalahti M, Niskanen M, Tapaninaho A, Kari A, Luukkonen M, et al. One-year outcome in early aneurysm surgery: a 14 years experience. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 1993;122(1-2):1-10.

Hindorff LA, Sethupathy P, Junkins HA, Ramos EM, Mehta JP, Collins FS, et al. Potential etiologic and functional implications of genome-wide association loci for human diseases and traits. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009 Jun 9;106(23):9362-9367. Horowitz A, Simons M. Branching morphogenesis. Circ Res 2008 Oct 10;103(8):784-795.

Humbert M, Sitbon O, Simonneau G. Treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension. N Engl J Med 2004 Sep 30;351(14):1425-1436.

Huttunen T, von und zu Fraunberg M, Frosen J, Lehecka M, Tromp G, Helin K, et al. Saccular intracranial aneurysm disease: distribution of site, size, and age suggests different etiologies for aneurysm formation and rupture in 316 familial and 1454 sporadic eastern Finnish patients. Neurosurgery 2010 Apr;66(4):631-8; discussion 638.

Huttunen T, von und zu Fraunberg M, Koivisto T, Ronkainen A, Rinne J, Sankila R, et al. Long-term excess mortality of 244 familial and 1502 sporadic one-year survivors of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage compared with a matched Eastern Finnish catchment population. Neurosurgery 2011 Jan;68(1):20-27.

Inagawa T. Size of ruptured intracranial saccular aneurysms in patients in Izumo City, Japan. World Neurosurg 2010 Feb;73(2):84-92; discussion e11.

Inagawa T. Risk factors for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage in patients in Izumo City, Japan. J Neurosurg 2005 Jan;102(1):60-67.

Inagawa T. Trends in incidence and case fatality rates of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage in Izumo City, Japan, between 1980-1989 and 1990-1998. Stroke 2001 Jul;32(7):1499-1507.

Ingall T, Asplund K, Mahonen M, Bonita R. A multinational comparison of subarachnoid hemorrhage epidemiology in the WHO MONICA stroke study. Stroke 2000 May;31(5):1054-1061.

Ingebrigtsen T, Morgan MK, Faulder K, Ingebrigtsen L, Sparr T, Schirmer H. Bifurcation geometry and the presence of cerebral artery aneurysms. J Neurosurg 2004 Jul;101(1):108-113.

Isaksen JG, Bazilevs Y, Kvamsdal T, Zhang Y, Kaspersen JH, Waterloo K, et al. Determination of wall tension in cerebral artery aneurysms by numerical simulation. Stroke 2008 Dec;39(12):3172-3178.

Juvela S. Prehemorrhage risk factors for fatal intracranial aneurysm rupture. Stroke 2003 Aug;34(8):1852-1857.

Juvela S, Hillbom M, Numminen H, Koskinen P. Cigarette smoking and alcohol consumption as risk factors for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 1993 May;24(5):639-646.

Juvela S, Poussa K, Porras M. Factors affecting formation and growth of intracranial aneurysms: a long-term follow-up study. Stroke 2001 Feb;32(2):485-491.

Kallio M, Sankila R, Hakulinen T, Jaaskelainen J. Factors affecting operative and excess long-term mortality in 935 patients with intracranial meningioma. Neurosurgery 1992 Jul;31(1):2-12.

Kamb,A.; Gruis,N.A.; Weaver-Feldhaus,J.; Liu,Q.; Harshman,K.; Tavtigian,S.V, et al. A cell cycle regulator potentially involved in genesis of many tumor types. Science 1994 Apr; 264(5157): 436-440.

Karamanakos PN, Koivisto T, Vanninen R, Khallaf M, Ronkainen A, Parviainen I, et al. The impact of endovascular management on the outcome of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage in the elderly in eastern Finland. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 2010 Sep;152(9):1493-1502.

Karamanakos PN, von und zu Fraunberg M, Bendel S, Huttunen T, Kurki M, Hernesniemi J, et al. Risk Factors for Three Phases of 12-Month Mortality in 1657 Patients from a Defined Population After Acute Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage. World Neurosurg 2011 Nov 7.

Kelly-Hayes M, Wolf PA, Kase CS, Brand FN, McGuirk JM, D'Agostino RB. Temporal patterns of stroke onset. The Framingham Study. Stroke 1995 Aug;26(8):1343-1347.

Kissela BM, Sauerbeck L, Woo D, Khoury J, Carrozzella J, Pancioli A, et al. Subarachnoid hemorrhage: a preventable disease with a heritable component. Stroke 2002 May;33(5):1321-1326.

Koivisto T, Saari T, Hernesniemi J, Vanninen R, Hurskainen H, Vapalahti M. Outcomes of early endovascular versus surgical treatment of ruptured cerebral aneurysms. A prospective randomized study. Stroke 2000;31(10):2369-77.

Korja M, Silventoinen K, McCarron P, Zdravkovic S, Skytthe A, Haapanen A, et al. Genetic epidemiology of spontaneous subarachnoid hemorrhage: Nordic Twin Study. Stroke 2010 Nov;41(11):2458-2462.

Kurki MI, Hakkinen SK, Frosen J, Tulamo R, von und zu Fraunberg M, Wong G, et al. Upregulated signaling pathways in ruptured human saccular intracranial aneurysm wall: an emerging regulative role of Toll-like receptor signaling and nuclear factorkappaB, hypoxia-inducible factor-1A, and ETS transcription factors. Neurosurgery 2011 Jun;68(6):1667-75; discussion 1675-6.

Kutlubaev, M.A.; Barugh, A.J.; Mead, G.E.. Fatigue after subarachnoid haemorrhage: a systematic review. Journal of psychosomatic research 2012 Apr;72 (4): 305-310

Laaksamo E, Tulamo R, Baumann M, Dashti R, Hernesniemi J, Juvela S, et al. Involvement of mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling in growth and rupture of human intracranial aneurysms. Stroke 2008 Mar;39(3):886-892.

Laakso A, Dashti R, Seppanen J, Juvela S, Vaart K, Niemela M, et al. Long-term excess mortality in 623 patients with brain arteriovenous malformations. Neurosurgery 2008 Aug;63(2):244-53; discussion 253-5.

Lahermo P, Sajantila A, Sistonen P, Lukka M, Aula P, Peltonen L, et al. The genetic relationship between the Finns and the Finnish Saami (Lapps): analysis of nuclear DNA and mtDNA. Am J Hum Genet 1996 Jun;58(6):1309-1322.

Langham J, Reeves BC, Lindsay KW, van der Meulen JH, Kirkpatrick PJ, Gholkar AR, et al. Variation in outcome after subarachnoid hemorrhage: a study of neurosurgical units in UK and Ireland. Stroke 2009 Jan;40(1):111-118.

Lappalainen T, Koivumaki S, Salmela E, Huoponen K, Sistonen P, Savontaus ML, et al. Regional differences among the Finns: a Y-chromosomal perspective. Gene 2006 Jul 19;376(2):207-215.

Lehecka M, Lehto H, Niemela M, Juvela S, Dashti R, Koivisto T, et al. Distal anterior cerebral artery aneurysms: treatment and outcome analysis of 501 patients. Neurosurgery 2008 Mar;62(3):590-601; discussion 590-601.

Lehecka M, Niemela M, Seppanen J, Lehto H, Koivisto T, Ronkainen A, et al. No long-term excess mortality in 280 patients with ruptured distal anterior cerebral artery aneurysms. Neurosurgery 2007 Feb;60(2):235-40; discussion 240-1.

Leppala JM, Paunio M, Virtamo J, Fogelholm R, Albanes D, Taylor PR, et al. Alcohol consumption and stroke incidence in male smokers. Circulation 1999 Sep 14;100(11):1209-1214.

Levine JM. Critical care management of subarachnoid hemorrhage. Curr Treat Options Neurol 2009 Mar;11(2):126-136.

Lin HC, Lin SY, Lee HC, Hu CJ, Choy CS. Weekly pattern of stroke onset in an Asian country: a nationwide population-based study. Chronobiol Int 2008 Sep;25(5):788-799.

Lindgren A, Huttunen T, Saavalainen T, Riihinen A, Kurki MI, Koivisto T, et al. Increased incidence of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage on Sundays and Mondays in 1,862 patients from Eastern Finland. Neuroepidemiology 2011;37(3-4):203-208.

Loeys BL, Chen J, Neptune ER, Judge DP, Podowski M, Holm T, et al. A syndrome of altered cardiovascular, craniofacial, neurocognitive and skeletal development caused by mutations in TGFBR1 or TGFBR2. Nat Genet 2005 Mar;37(3):275-281.

Longstreth WT, Jr, Nelson LM, Koepsell TD, van Belle G. Cigarette smoking, alcohol use, and subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 1992 Sep;23(9):1242-1249.

Longstreth WT, Nelson LM, Koepsell TD, van Belle G. Subarachnoid hemorrhage and hormonal factors in women. A population-based case-control study. Ann Intern Med 1994 Aug 1;121(3):168-173.

Mahindu A, Koivisto T, Ronkainen A, Rinne J, Assaad N, Morgan MK. Similarities and differences in aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage between eastern Finland and northern Sydney. J Clin Neurosci 2008 Jun;15(6):617-621.

Mangos S, Lam PY, Zhao A, Liu Y, Mudumana S, Vasilyev A, et al. The ADPKD genes pkd1a/b and pkd2 regulate extracellular matrix formation. Dis Model Mech 2010 May-Jun;3(5-6):354-365.

Meng H, Wang Z, Hoi Y, Gao L, Metaxa E, Swartz DD, et al. Complex hemodynamics at the apex of an arterial bifurcation induces vascular remodeling resembling cerebral aneurysm initiation. Stroke 2007 Jun;38(6):1924-1931.

Mhurchu CN, Anderson C, Jamrozik K, Hankey G, Dunbabin D, Australasian Cooperative Research on Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Study (ACROSS) Group. Hormonal factors and risk of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: an international population-based, case-control study. Stroke 2001 Mar;32(3):606-612.

Molyneux AJ, Kerr RS, Birks J, Ramzi N, Yarnold J, Sneade M, et al. Risk of recurrent subarachnoid haemorrhage, death, or dependence and standardised mortality ratios after clipping or coiling of an intracranial aneurysm in the International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT): long-term follow-up. Lancet Neurol 2009 May;8(5):427-433.

Molyneux AJ, Kerr RS, Yu LM, Clarke M, Sneade M, Yarnold JA, et al. International subarachnoid aneurysm trial (ISAT) of neurosurgical clipping versus endovascular coiling in 2143 patients with ruptured intracranial aneurysms: a randomised comparison of effects on survival, dependency, seizures, rebleeding, subgroups, and aneurysm occlusion. Lancet 2005 Sep 3-9;366(9488):809-817.

Nieuwkamp DJ, Algra A, Blomqvist P, Adami J, Buskens E, Koffijberg H, et al. Excess Mortality and Cardiovascular Events in Patients Surviving Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: A Nationwide Study in Sweden. Stroke 2011 Feb 17.

Nieuwkamp DJ, Setz LE, Algra A, Linn FH, de Rooij NK, Rinkel GJ. Changes in case fatality of aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage over time, according to age, sex, and region: a meta-analysis. Lancet Neurol 2009 Jul;8(7):635-642.

Oderich GS, Panneton JM, Bower TC, Lindor NM, Cherry KJ, Noel AA, et al. The spectrum, management and clinical outcome of Ehlers-Danlos syndrome type IV: a 30-year experience. J Vasc Surg 2005 Jul;42(1):98-106.

O'Kelly CJ, Kulkarni AV, Austin PC, Urbach D, Wallace MC. Shunt-dependent hydrocephalus after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: incidence, predictors, and revision rates. Clinical article. J Neurosurg 2009 Nov;111(5):1029-1035.

O'Kelly CJ, Kulkarni AV, Austin PC, Wallace MC, Urbach D. The impact of therapeutic modality on outcomes following repair of ruptured intracranial aneurysms: an administrative data analysis. Clinical article. J Neurosurg 2010 Oct;113(4):795-801.

Olafsson E, Hauser WA, Gudmundsson G. A population-based study of prognosis of ruptured cerebral aneurysm: mortality and recurrence of subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurology 1997 May;48(5):1191-1195.

Olson JM, Vongpunsawad S, Kuivaniemi H, Ronkainen A, Hernesniemi J, Ryynanen M, et al. Search for intracranial aneurysm susceptibility gene(s) using Finnish families. BMC Med Genet 2002 Aug 1;3:7.

Peltonen L, Jalanko A, Varilo T. Molecular genetics of the Finnish disease heritage. Hum Mol Genet 1999;8(10):1913-1923. Pohar M, Stare J. Relative survival analysis in R. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 2006 Mar;81(3):272-278.

Pyysalo LM, Niskakangas TT, Keski-Nisula LH, Kahara VJ, Ohman JE. Long term outcome after subarachnoid haemorrhage of unknown aetiology. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2011 Nov;82(11):1264-1266.

Qureshi AI, Sung GY, Suri MF, Straw RN, Guterman LR, Hopkins LN. Factors associated with aneurysm size in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage: effect of smoking and aneurysm location. Neurosurgery 2000 Jan;46(1):44-50.

R Development Core Team. R. A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing, R Foundation for Statistical Computing. http://www R-project org 2009.

Rinkel GJ, Djibuti M, Algra A, van Gijn J. Prevalence and risk of rupture of intracranial aneurysms: a systematic review. Stroke 1998 Jan;29(1):251-256.

Rinne J, Hernesniemi J, Puranen M, Saari T. Multiple intracranial aneurysms in a defined population: prospective angiographic and clinical study. Neurosurgery 1994 Nov;35(5):803-808.

Rinne JK, Hernesniemi JA. De novo aneurysms: special multiple intracranial aneurysms. Neurosurgery 1993 Dec;33(6):981-985.

Rodrigues VJ, Elsayed S, Loeys BL, Dietz HC, Yousem DM. Neuroradiologic manifestations of Loeys-Dietz syndrome type 1. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 2009 Sep;30(8):1614-1619.

Ronkainen A, Hernesniemi J, Puranen M, Niemitukia L, Vanninen R, Ryynanen M, et al. Familial intracranial aneurysms. Lancet 1997;349(904):380-384.

Ronkainen A, Miettinen H, Karkola K, Papinaho S, Vanninen R, Puranen M, et al. Risk of harboring an unruptured intracranial aneurysm. Stroke 1998 Feb;29(2):359-362.

Ronkainen A, Niskanen M, Piironen R, Hernesniemi J. Familial subarachnoid hemorrhage. Outcome study. Stroke 1999 May;30(5):1099-1102.

Ronkainen A, Niskanen M, Rinne J, Koivisto T, Hernesniemi J, Vapalahti M. Evidence for excess long-term mortality after treated subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 2001 Dec 1;32(12):2850-2853.

Ronkainen, Hernesniemi J, Ryynänen M. Familial subarachnoid hemorrhage in east Finland, 1977-1990. Neurosurgery 1993;33(5):787-97.

Ronkainen, Hernesniemi J, Tromp G. Special features of familial intracranial aneurysms: report of 215 familial aneurysms. Neurosurgery 1995;37(1):43-7.

Rosengart AJ, Schultheiss KE, Tolentino J, Macdonald RL. Prognostic factors for outcome in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 2007 Aug;38(8):2315-2321.

Ruigrok YM, Baas AF, Medic J, Wijmenga C, Rinkel GJ. The transforming growth factor-beta receptor genes and the risk of intracranial aneurysms. Int J Stroke 2011 Oct 6.

Ruigrok YM, Buskens E, Rinkel GJ. Attributable risk of common and rare determinants of subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 2001 May;32(5):1173-1175.

Ruigrok YM, Rinkel GJ, Algra A, Raaymakers TW, Van Gijn J. Characteristics of intracranial aneurysms in patients with familial subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurology 2004 Mar 23;62(6):891-894.

Ruigrok YM, Rinkel GJ, Wijmenga C. Genetics of intracranial aneurysms. Lancet Neurol 2005 Mar;4(3):179-189.

Salmela E, Lappalainen T, Fransson I, Andersen PM, Dahlman-Wright K, Fiebig A, et al. Genome-wide analysis of single nucleotide polymorphisms uncovers population structure in Northern Europe. PLoS ONE 2008;3(10):e3519.

Scanarini M, Mingrino S, Giordano R, Baroni A. Histological and ultrastructural study of intracranial saccular aneurysmal wall. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 1978;43(3-4):171-182.

Shi C, Awad IA, Jafari N, Lin S, Du P, Hage ZA, et al. Genomics of Human Intracranial Aneurysm Wall. Stroke 2009 Feb 19.

Shiue I, Arima H, Hankey GJ, Anderson CS, for the ACROSS Group. Modifiable lifestyle behaviours account for most cases of subarachnoid haemorrhage: A population-based case-control study in Australasia. J Neurol Sci 2012 Feb 15;313(1-2):92-94.

Song YM, Cho HJ. Risk of stroke and myocardial infarction after reduction or cessation of cigarette smoking: a cohort study in korean men. Stroke 2008 Sep;39(9):2432-2438.

Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Willett WC, Manson JE, Rosner B, Speizer FE, et al. Postmenopausal estrogen therapy and cardiovascular disease. Ten-year follow-up from the nurses' health study. N Engl J Med 1991 Sep 12;325(11):756-762.

Stare J, Pohar M, Henderson R. Goodness of fit of relative survival models. Stat Med 2005 Dec 30;24(24):3911-3925.

Teppo L, Pukkala E, Lehtonen M. Data quality and quality control of a populationbased cancer registry. Experience in Finland. Acta Oncol 1994;33(4):365-369.

Tulamo R, Frosen J, Junnikkala S, Paetau A, Pitkaniemi J, Kangasniemi M, et al. Complement activation associates with saccular cerebral artery aneurysm wall degeneration and rupture. Neurosurgery 2006 Nov;59(5):1069-76; discussion 1076-7.

Turin TC, Kita Y, Murakami Y, Rumana N, Sugihara H, Morita Y, et al. Increase of stroke incidence after weekend regardless of traditional risk factors: Takashima Stroke Registry, Japan; 1988-2003. Cerebrovasc Dis 2007;24(4):328-337.

Tyczynski JE, Bray F, Parkin DM. Lung cancer in Europe in 2000: epidemiology, prevention, and early detection. Lancet Oncol 2003 Jan;4(1):45-55.

van der Bilt IA, Hasan D, Vandertop WP, Wilde AA, Algra A, Visser FC, et al. Impact of cardiac complications on outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a meta-analysis. Neurology 2009 Feb 17;72(7):635-642.

van der Kolk NM, Algra A, Rinkel GJ. Risk of aneurysm rupture at intracranial arterial bifurcations. Cerebrovasc Dis 2010;30(1):29-35.

van der Voet M, Olson JM, Kuivaniemi H, Dudek DM, Skunca M, Ronkainen A, et al. Intracranial aneurysms in Finnish families: confirmation of linkage and refinement of the interval to chromosome 19q13.3. Am J Hum Genet 2004 Mar;74(3):564-571.

van Gijn J, Kerr RS, Rinkel GJ. Subarachnoid haemorrhage. Lancet 2007 Jan 27;369(9558):306-318.

van Munster CE, von Und Zu Fraunberg M, Rinkel GJ, Rinne J, Koivisto T, Ronkainen A. Differences in Aneurysm and Patient Characteristics Between Cohorts of Finnish and Dutch Patients With Subarachnoid Hemorrhage. Time Trends Between 1986 and 2005. Stroke 2008 Oct 30.

Vanninen R, Koivisto T, Saari T, Hernesniemi J, Vapalahti M. Ruptured intracranial aneurysms: acute endovascular treatment with electrolytically detachable coils--a prospective randomized study. Radiology 1999 May;211(2):325-336.

Vartiainen E, Jousilahti P, Alfthan G, Sundvall J, Pietinen P, Puska P. Cardiovascular risk factor changes in Finland, 1972-1997. Int J Epidemiol 2000 Feb;29(1):49-56.

Vartiainen E, Laatikainen T, Peltonen M, Juolevi A, Mannisto S, Sundvall J, et al. Thirty-five-year trends in cardiovascular risk factors in Finland. Int J Epidemiol 2010 Apr;39(2):504-518.

Wang H, Sekine M, Chen X, Kagamimori S. A study of weekly and seasonal variation of stroke onset. Int J Biometeorol 2002 Dec;47(1):13-20.

Wartenberg KE, Schmidt JM, Claassen J, Temes RE, Frontera JA, Ostapkovich N, et al. Impact of medical complications on outcome after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Crit Care Med 2006 Mar;34(3):617-23; quiz 624.

Weinsheimer S, Goddard KA, Parrado AR, Lu Q, Sinha M, Lebedeva ER, et al. Association of kallikrein gene polymorphisms with intracranial aneurysms. Stroke 2007 Oct;38(10):2670-2676.

Weir B, Disney L, Karrison T. Sizes of ruptured and unruptured aneurysms in relation to their sites and the ages of patients. J Neurosurg 2002 Jan;96(1):64-70.

Wermer MJ, Greebe P, Algra A, Rinkel GJ. Long-term mortality and vascular event risk after aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2009 Dec;80(12):1399-1401.

Wiebers DO, Whisnant JP, Huston J,3rd, Meissner I, Brown RD,Jr, Piepgras DG, et al. Unruptured intracranial aneurysms: natural history, clinical outcome, and risks of surgical and endovascular treatment. Lancet 2003 Jul 12;362(9378):103-110.

Xu CB, Sun Y, Edvinsson L. Cardiovascular risk factors regulate the expression of vascular endothelin receptors. Pharmacol Ther 2010 Aug;127(2):148-155.

Yamada S, Utsunomiya M, Inoue K, Nozaki K, Inoue S, Takenaka K, et al. Genomewide scan for Japanese familial intracranial aneurysms: linkage to several chromosomal regions. Circulation 2004 Dec 14;110(24):3727-3733.

Yasuno K, Bakircioglu M, Low SK, Bilguvar K, Gaal E, Ruigrok YM, et al. Common variant near the endothelin receptor type A (EDNRA) gene is associated with intracranial aneurysm risk. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011 Dec 6;108(49):19707-19712.

Yasuno K, Bilguvar K, Bijlenga P, Low SK, Krischek B, Auburger G, et al. Genomewide association study of intracranial aneurysm identifies three new risk loci. Nat Genet 2010 May;42(5):420-425.

Zacharia BE, Ducruet AF, Hickman ZL, Grobelny BT, Fernandez L, Schmidt JM, et al. Renal dysfunction as an independent predictor of outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a single-center cohort study. Stroke 2009 Jul;40(7):2375-2381.

TERHI HUTTUNEN Saccular Intracranial Aneurysm Disease in Eastern Finnish Population

Phenotype on Admission Long-term Excess Mortality Risk of Cancer



Saccular intracranial aneurysms (sIAs) form during life at the branching sites of intracranial extracerebral arteries in the cerebrospinal fluid space. Rupture of the sIA wall is the most frequent cause of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage aSAH, a devastating form of stroke that affects working aged population. In the present study, we analysed the phenotype, long-term excess mortality, and risk of cancer in 2904 consecutive sIA cases from 1980 to 2007 from the Kuopio Neurosurgery sIA Database.



Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertations in Health Sciences

ISBN 978-952-61-0805-6